

Thoracic neoplasms

Editors: Maciej Krzakowski, Jacek Jassem

Authors:

Maciej Krzakowski¹, Jacek Jassem², Adam Antczak³, Katarzyna Błasińska⁴, Joanna Chorostowska-Wynimko⁵, Rafał Dziadziuszko², Maciej Głogowski¹, Tomasz Grodzki⁶, Dariusz Kowalski¹, Rafał Krenke⁷, Renata Langfort⁸, Włodzimierz Olszewski⁹, Tadeusz Orłowski¹⁰, Paweł Śliwiński¹¹, Andrzej Tysarowski¹², Witold Rzyman¹³, Marek Woźniewski¹⁴

¹Department of Lung Cancer and Thoracic Tumours, National Research Institute of Oncology, Warsaw, Poland

²Department of Oncology and Radiotherapy, Medical University of Gdańsk, Gdansk, Poland

³Department of General and Oncological Pulmonology, Medical University of Lodz, Poland

⁴Department of Radiology, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute, Warsaw, Poland

⁵Department of Genetics and Clinical Immunology, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute

⁶Clinical Department of Thoracic Surgery, Pomeranian Medical University, Szczecin, Poland

⁷Department of Internal Medicine, Pulmonary Diseases and Allergy, Medical University of Warsaw, Poland

⁸Department of Pathology, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute, Warsaw, Poland

⁹Department of Pathology and Laboratory Diagnostics, National Research Institute of Oncology, Warsaw, Poland

¹⁰Department of Surgery, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute, Warsaw, Poland

¹¹II Department of Lung Diseases, National Tuberculosis and Lung Diseases Research Institute, Warsaw, Poland

¹²Laboratory of Genetic and Molecular Diagnostics of Cancer, National Research Institute of Oncology, Warsaw, Poland

¹³Department of Thoracic Surgery, Medical University of Gdansk

¹⁴Faculty of Physiotherapy, Academy of Physical Education in Wroclaw, Poland

Key words: lung cancer, pleural masothelioma, mediastinal neoplasms

Table of contents

Lung cancer	2
Epidemiology, aetiology, and prophylaxis	2
Pathology and molecular biology	3
Diagnostics	6
Medical history	6
Physical examination	6
Performance status (PS) assessment	7
Imaging examinations	7
Endoscopic examinations	9
Laboratory tests	9
Pathological and molecular evaluation	10
Staging	12
Respiratory and cardiovascular capacity assessments	13
Treatment	15
Non-small-cell lung cancer — treatment in stages I–II and IIIA	
(patients with potentially resectable disease)	15
Non-small-cell lung cancer — treatment in IIIA (patients with unresectable disease) and IIIB stages	19
Non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) — treatment in stage IV	20
Small-cell lung cancer — primary treatment	26
Small-cell lung cancer — treatment of relapsing patients	27
Overcoming smoking habits	27
Follow-up after treatment	27
Carcinoid tumours	28
Epidemiological and pathological characteristics	28
Diagnostics	28

Received: 06.05.2021 Accepted: 06.05.2021 Early publication date: 10.01.2022

This article is available in open access under Creative Common Attribution-Non-Commercial-No Derivatives 4.0 International (CC BY-NC-ND 4.0) license, allowing to download articles and share them with others as long as they credit the authors and the publisher, but without permission to change them in any way or use them commercially.

Translation: dr n. med. Dariusz Stencel Oncology in Clinical Practice, DOI: 10.5603/OCP.2021.0022, Copyright © 2022 Via Medica, ISSN 2450-1654, e-ISSN 2450-6478

Treatment	
Follow-up after treatment	
Malignant pleural mesothelioma	
Epidemiological and pathological characteristics	
Diagnostics	
Medical history	
Physical examination	
Imaging examinations	
Pathological evaluation	
Staging	
Treatment	
Follow-up after treatment	
Mediastinal malignant tumours	
Epidemiological characteristics	
Primary thymic tumours	
Diagnostics	
Treatment	
Follow-up after treatment	
Mediastinal germ-cell tumours	
Mediastinal neurogenic tumours	
References	

According to the authors and editors, this report contains the most justified principles of diagnostic and therapeutic procedures prepared, considering the scientific value of evidence and the category of recommendations. These principles should always be interpreted in the context of an individual clinical situation. The recommendations do not always correspond to the current reimbursement rules in Poland. In the case of doubt, the current possibilities for reimbursement of individual procedures should be determined.

1. The quality of scientific evidence

I—Scientific evidence obtained from well-designed and properly conducted randomised clinical trials or meta-analyses of randomised clinical trials

II — Scientific evidence obtained from well-designed and properly conducted prospective observational studies (non-randomised cohort studies)

III - Scientific evidence obtained from retrospective observational studies or case-control studies

IV — Scientific evidence obtained from clinical experiences and/or experts, opinions

2. Category of recommendations

A — Indications confirmed unambiguously and absolutely useful in clinical practice

B—Indications probable and potentially useful in clinical practice

C—*Indications determined individually*

Lung cancer

Epidemiology, aetiology, and prophylaxis

Lung cancer is the most frequent malignancy in Poland and the leading cause of cancer-related deaths [1]. In 2018, it accounted for 16.1% — both in men and women — of all cancer cases (respectively — 13 425 and 7 801 cases annually) and was the cause of 28.2% and 17.6% of all cancer deaths, respectively (15 619 and 8 076). A higher number of deaths in relation to the number of cases indicates shortcomings in the registration of lung cancer cases. The incidence and mortality rates of lung cancer have been decreasing in recent years in men and increasing in women at the same time. Approximately 14.5% of patients with lung cancer in Poland survive 5 or more years after diagnosis. The 5-year and 10-year prevalences in Poland are 49 662 and 61 267 (30 449 and 19 213 as well as 37 274 and 23 993 in men and women).

The most common cause of lung cancer (about 85–90% of cases) is active or second-hand smoking. Reducing exposure to tobacco smoke is the only way to significantly reduce morbidity and mortality. European Commission recommendations indicate that reducing the risks of lung cancer can be achieved through the following:

- legislative action on tobacco products (e.g. packaging, labelling, and ingredients);
- cessation of tobacco product advertising;
- creating smoke-free spaces;
- appropriate tax policy and prevention of illegal trade.

It is also vital to help smokers overcome smoking habits and to take anti-tobacco measures aimed at young people, because over 90% of smokers enter addiction before the age of 26 [2].

The other causes of lung cancer include physical and chemical environmental and occupational factors (e.g. radon, nickel, chromium, arsenic, asbestos, hydrocarbon compounds), as well as inherited genetic factors (most of all polymorphisms of genes involved in the inactivation of harmful components of tobacco smoke and gene disorders responsible for the repair of DNA damage).

Pharmacological prophylaxis of lung cancer and screening with conventional chest X-ray examinations and sputum cytology do not reduce mortality. Low-dose chest computed tomography (CT) is of higher value as a screening test. National Lung Screening Trial (NLST) results showed a 20% reduction in lung cancer mortality among high-risk individuals (age 55-74 years and more than 30 pack-years smoking history) undergoing low-dose chest CT compared to the control group (X-ray examination) [3]. The results of the NLST study became the basis for the development of early-detection programmes for lung cancer in the groups at highest risk in some countries. In 2017 and 2018, European [4, 5] and Polish [6] recommendations on screening were published, although these recommendations have not been introduced in the majority of European countries so far (mainly due to difficulties in proving their effectiveness and low specificity, resulting in the need to perform invasive diagnostics, but also for other reasons) [7]. Screening of people from the highest risk group has been financed since 2016 in the United States. Recently, the results of the phase III NELSON study were presented a reduction in mortality from lung cancer (women -39%, men -26%) was shown after 10 years of observation when low-dose CT was performed in a risk group (eligibility criteria similar to NLST) [8]. Croatia has introduced a population-based, fully reimbursed screening test, and in Poland, the UK and Hungary, early-detection programme studies started in 2020.

Screening examinations must be associated with — being of the highest importance — primary prevention (total elimination of exposure to tobacco smoke). They should also include an assessment of the occurrence of emphysema and cardiovascular risk by determining calcification in coronary vessels [4–6]. It is reasonable to carry out early-detection programmes to increase the possibility of radical treatment use (especially in regions with low detection of early-stage lung cancer). Early lung cancer detection programmes should be carried out by highly specialised centres that have all diagnostic and therapeutic possibilities in patients with lung cancer and relevant experience (the above-mentioned conditions are adopted in Poland).

Recommendations

- Multidirectional measures should be taken to reduce exposure to tobacco smoke components (active and passive smoking) (I, A).
- It is warranted to continue early-detection programmes using low-dose CT to increase the possibility of radical treatment (I, A).

Pathology and molecular biology

Primary lung cancer originates from epithelial cells. The most common (approximately 85% of all cases) are non-small-cell lung cancers (NSCLC). The majority of NSCLC are adenocarcinomas-and squamous-cell carcinomas (the incidence of adenocarcinoma has increased recently). The incidence of large-cell lung cancer has decreased to about 2% since the introduction of immunohistochemistry (IHC). Small-cell lung cancer (SCLC) currently accounts for approximately 13% of all primary lung tumours and differs from other histological types in many biological and clinical features (rapid proliferation rate, short tumour doubling time, outstanding early metastasis tendency, chemosensitivity, and relative radiosensitivity) [9]. Other histological types account for less than 1% of all primary lung tumours.

Lung cancer develops centrally — in the area of large bronchi (the so-called 'perihilar' lesion) — or peripherally. Adenocarcinomas occur more frequently in the peripheral parts of the lungs. Metastases occur most frequently in regional lymph nodes (followed by the liver, brain, second lung, bones, adrenal glands, subcutaneous tissue, and bone marrow). Metastases can also arise in distant organs without the involvement of regional lymph nodes. Lung cancer can also spread locally by infiltrating the structures of the mediastinum and the diaphragm, pleura, and chest wall and filling the surrounding air spaces.

The 2015 World Health Organization (WHO) classification of epithelial pulmonary carcinomas [10] (Tab. 1) introduced some changes in comparison with the previous version from 2011, of which the most important is the introduction of the following:

- rules of handling small samples and cytological material (especially — in advanced forms of NSCLC);
- new classification of adenocarcinomas-and squamous-cell carcinomas;
- the need to use immunohistochemistry (IHC) and genetic tests in pathological diagnostics to treat individualisation;
- diagnosis of large-cell carcinoma and other rarely found NSCLC types only in postoperative material;
- classification into one group of cancers with features of neuroendocrine activity. The classification published this year [10] additionally presents new principles for determining the degree of differentia-

Туре	Subtype
Adenocarcinoma	Lepidic adenocarcinoma
	Acinar adenocarcinoma
	Papillary adenocarcinoma
	Micropapillary adenocarcinoma
	Solid adenocarcinoma
	Invasive mucinous adenocarcinoma with variants in the form of mixed mucinous and non- mucinous
	Colloid adenocarcinoma
	Fetal adenocarcinoma
	Enteric adenocarcinoma
	Minimally invasive adenocarcinoma with variants in the form of mucinous or non-mucinous Preinvasive lesions
	— atypical adenomatous hyperplasia
	 — adenocarcinoma in situ mucinous or non-mucinous
Squamous-cell carcinoma	Keratinising squamous-cell carcinoma
	Non-keratinising squamous-cell carcinoma
	Squamous-cell carcinoma in situ
Neuroendocrine tumours	Small-cell carcinoma with variants in the form of combined small-cell carcinoma
	Large-cell carcinoma with variants in the form of combined large-cell carcinoma
	Typical and atypical carcinoids
	Preinvasive lesion — diffuse idiopathic pulmonary neuroendocrine hyperplasia
Large-cell carcinoma	
Adenosquamous carcinoma	
Sarcomatoid carcinoma	Pleomorphic sarcomatoid carcinoma
	Spindle-cell sarcomatoid carcinoma
	Giant-cell sarcomatoid carcinoma
	Carcinosarcoma
	Pulmonary blastoma
Salivary gland-type tumours	Mucoepidermoid carcinoma
	Adenoid-cystic carcinoma
Unclassified carcinomas	

Table 1. 2015 World Health Organisation (WHO) pathological classification of lung cancer [10]

tion of lung adenocarcinomas (Grading), and in the group of neuroendocrine tumors, carcinoids were classified as neuroendocrine tumors, while small cell and large cell neuroendocrine carcinomas were classified as neuroendocrine carcinomas.

The scope of the procedures used in pathological diagnosis depends on the histological type of the cancer and the disease stage.

The handling of the preoperative specimen, as well as small and cytological specimens (cytoblocks), in patients with inoperable NSCLC requires the determination of cancer type and, in certain cases, the assessment of the predictive factors that enable making an appropriate therapeutic decision. The close cooperation between pathologists and clinicians who order the examination and plan treatment is crucial, as well as the rational use of the material sampled for pathological examination. Determination of NSCLC type is based on morphological criteria found in standard hematoxylin and eosin staining, additional histochemical tests for the presence of mucus in cancer cells and IHC, using a panel typical for the differentiation of adenocarcinoma (TTF1, thyroid transcription factor) and squamous-cell carcinoma (p40). In the case of an ambiguous histological picture and the impossibility of determining the NSCLC type based on tumour morphology, IHC, and neuroendocrine markers, it is possible to diagnose not otherwise specified (NOS) cancer. However, the proportion of such diagnoses should not exceed 10% of all NSCLC diagnoses. The percentage of NOS diagnoses can be reduced due to the greater availability of tissue material, which allows the establishment of a complete histological diagnosis [10].

The equivocal histological picture and the IHC examination of the expression of glandular differentiation markers justify the diagnosis of NSCLC corresponding to adenocarcinoma (NSCLC — favours adenocarcinoma), and in the case of squamous-cell immunophenotype, the diagnosis of NSCLC corresponding to squamous-cell carcinoma is allowed (NSCLC — favours squamous-cell carcinoma) [10]. Determination of neuroendocrine markers (NEMs) is indicated only in the case of morphological features suggesting neuroendocrine differentiation (routine use is not recommended because 10–20% of all NSCLCs express one of the NEMs with no impact on management) [10].

Pathological diagnosis of postoperative material requires the determination of cancer type, subtype and grade, presence of prognostic factors (e.g. blood or lymph vessels tumour emboli, nerve fibres, pleural and surrounding air spaces infiltration, the extent of necrosis), resection completeness and pathological disease stage (pTNM). For adenocarcinomas it is necessary to determine each type of morphological change found in the tumour [11].

Histological classification of NSCLC is supplemented by division according to differentiation (histological malignancy), which distinguishes 4 degrees (G, grade): GX — no possibility to determine differentiation, G1—high differentiation, G2—moderate differentiation, G3—low differentiation, G4—undifferentiated cancer. However, the degree of histological malignancy is of limited importance in the choice of treatment method [10].

In patients with advanced NSCLC, it is necessary to evaluate EGFR, ALK, and ROS1 gene status to detect their disorders [12-14]. The presence of mutations in the EGFR gene and translocations in the ALK and ROS1 genes is a predictor of benefit from targeted therapy with epidermal growth factor receptor (EGFR) and ALK or ROS1 tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs). Mutations within the EGFR/KRAS genes and ALK/ROS1 translocations almost always exclude each other [12]. The extension of predictive marker panels to include BRAF, MET, RET, NTRK, HER2, and KRAS gene disorders will be associated with the introduction of new drugs targeting the above-mentioned molecular targets. The assessment of predictive biomarkers is currently also recommended in patients with squamous-cell carcinoma, which especially applies to young non-smokers, patients with diagnosis established based on scanty biopsy specimens, and patients with mixed NSCLC [13, 14].

Genes can be evaluated using tissue material or — in the case of a confirmed sufficient number of cells in the sample — cytological examination (the preferred material is paraffin-embedded). If inhibitors of the immune checkpoints are to be used, the PD-L1 (programmed death ligand 1) protein expression should be evaluated in the tissue material or, in its absence, in the cytological material (cytoblock) [10, 12].

'Liquid' biopsy (most often testing of blood plasma) is a reliable source of tumour circulating free DNA (cfDNA) and, more specifically, the fractions of circulating tumour DNA (ctDNA). Free DNA testing is a recommended alternative to examination of cellular or tissue samples in detecting resistance to first-or second-generation EGFR TKIs (presence of Thr790Met variant in *EGFR* gene, commonly referred to as T790M mutation) prior to the second-line targeted therapy. The assessment of predictive biomarkers based on circulating DNA analysis before first-line treatment is allowed only in the absence or limited availability of tissue or cellular material [13].

Prognosis in lung cancer patients depends primarily on the mainly stage, while the age and gender of the patients are of lesser importance. The new pathological classification indicates a different clinical course in individual histological subtypes of adenocarcinoma (e.g. better prognosis — lepidic and papillary subtypes, worse prognosis - micropapillary and solid subtypes), but the differences do not affect the choice of treatment method. In patients with advanced cancer stages, the prognosis depends mainly on performance status (PS) and the degree of weight loss in the period preceding the diagnosis. The prognostic significance of activating EGFR and ALK gene aberrations has not been definitively confirmed, but the presence of these disorders (10-15% and 3-5% of Caucasian patients, respectively) is strongly correlated with the activity of appropriate molecularly targeted drugs. The prognosis in SCLC is generally worse than in NSCLC. In addition to the tumour stage in SCLC, the high activity of lactate dehydrogenase (LDH), which is associated with tumour mass, has an unfavourable prognostic value.

- An absolute prerequisite for commencing treatment is to determine the pathological diagnosis of lung cancer based on the examination of tissue or cellular material (IV, A).
- Pathological diagnosis of lung cancer should take into account the principles and criteria of the current WHO classification (III, A).
- Pathological diagnosis should be supplemented by immunohistochemistry and — according to indications — genetic tests (I, A).
- The genetic and molecular assessment can be performed based on tissue material examination or — in the case of a sufficient number of tumour cells in the specimen — cytological examination (II, B).
- Circulating DNA plasma testing can be performed to detect mutations driving resistance to anti-EGFR treatment and in the case of unavailability of tissue or tissue material (II, B).
- The diagnosis of not otherwise specified in non-small-cell lung cancer patients can only be made if it is not possible to obtain the appropriate material for testing (IV, A).
- The result of the pathological postoperative examination should include the diagnosis of lung cancer (histological type and subtype and malignancy grade), the status of lymph nodes and blood and lymphatic vessels, and the assessment of surgical margins and tumour staging according to the current pathological classification (IV, A).



Figure 1. Diagnostic algorithm in lung cancer; CT — computed tomography; PET — positron emission tomography; US — ultrasonography

Diagnostics

The diagnostic procedure included determination of the diagnosis and stage of lung cancer (Fig. 1).

Medical history

Lung cancer is one of the malignancies in which the symptoms occur usually late. The vigilance of primary healthcare physicians and specialists is vital, expressed primarily by directing special attention to symptoms that may be underestimated by patients. These symptoms include, in particular, chronic cough (especially in people with long-term exposure to tobacco smoke or other carcinogens) and recurrent respiratory tract inflammation. In the case of suspected lung cancer, medical history consists of an interview for symptoms (Tab. 2) and a careful assessment of active and passive exposure to tobacco smoke, familial occurrence of neoplasms, and exposure to harmful environmental factors.

Physical examination

The presence of asymmetric symptoms in the physical examination of the respiratory system in a person burdened with an increased risk of lung cancer is an absolute indication for further diagnosis.

Physical examination of people with suspected lung cancer should particularly consider the following:

- symptoms associated with stricture or closure of bronchial lumen (asymmetry of thoracic tremor, percussion sound or alveolar murmur and weakening of alveolar murmur, suppression of percussion sound), localised (focal) wheezing over affected bronchi, bronchial murmur in the abnormal location;
- enlargement of peripheral lymph nodes (especially supraclavicular);
- symptoms of pleural effusion presence (suppression of percussion sound, weakening of alveolar murmur);
- symptoms of pericardial effusion presence and myocardial infiltration (enlargement of the heart outline, weakening of heart tones, jugular venous distension, liver enlargement, hepatojugular reflux, low blood pressure amplitude, arrhythmia);
- symptoms of superior vena cava syndrome (swelling of the face, increased dyspnoea, enlarged neck circumference, swelling of the upper limbs, widening

Symptoms associated with local tumour spread	General symptoms
Cough (especially changes in its character in smokers or non-	Arthralgia
smokers who are chronically coughing)	General weakness
Dyspnoea	Weight loss
Haemoptysis	Increase in body temperature
Chest pain	Disorders of superficial sensation
Recurrent or prolonged pneumonia	Thrombophlebitis
Hoarseness of voice	Other symptoms of paraneoplastic syndromes
Swallowing disorders	
Shoulder pain	
Superior vena cava syndrome	
Horner's syndrome	

Table 2. Lung cancer symptoms

of the jugular veins and on the chest wall, bruising of the face and mucous membranes);

- hepatomegaly;
- pain on the pressure of the skeletal system and chest wall;
- paraneoplastic symptoms;
- symptoms from central and peripheral nervous system;
- body weight in relation to the expected value.

Performance status (PS) assessment

An essential element in lung cancer diagnosis is the assessment of PS, which should be carried out with the use of the WHO or Eastern Cooperative Oncology Group scale.

Imaging examinations

X-ray images of lung cancer can be very diverse. Suspicion of lung cancer should be made, particularly by the findings in a conventional chest X-ray in posterior-anterior and lateral projections:

- well-rounded shadow [completely solid or partially solid lesion or the image of so-called ground glass opacities (GGO)];
- changes in hilar outline;
- air flow disturbances (asymmetry, atelectasis);
- infiltrating lesion;
- pleural effusion.

Normal results of conventional chest X-rays do not exclude cancer located in areas with limited access (lung apex or mediastinum) or a small intrabronchial lesion. Therefore, all patients with suspected symptoms should have chest CT scans with intravenously administered contrast agents (the test should also include the upper abdominal cavity with adrenal glands). In special situations, a magnetic resonance (MR) scan of the chest is performed, which can determine the state of the surrounding structures (e.g. lung apex, chest wall, diaphragm, or large vessels).

An important diagnostic problem is the management of patients with a single nodule in the lung parenchyma of an unspecified character and a diameter of up to 3 cm. These changes are often found on chest CT performed as part of screening tests or for other indications. In recent years, the recommendations of various scientific societies have been published that describe in detail the principles of diagnosing a single nodule in the lung, including the American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) [15], the British Thoracic Society (BTS) [16], and the Fleischner Society recommendations [17]. The main goal of the recommendations is to assess the likelihood of the malignant character of the lesion, which determines further management. For the purposes of this study, the guidelines developed by the BTS [16] (Fig. 2–4) were used. Clinical data (e.g. age and tobacco smoke exposure) and features of the nodule in CT scan (size, radiological structure, and margins characteristics) play a key role in assessing the likelihood of a nodule malignant character. CT examination allows for the identification of solid and non-solid nodules (GGO with or without a solid component) and the assessment of the presence and characteristics of elements that may be helpful in assessing the likelihood of malignancy. The malignant features may be suggested by, for example, the presence of GGO (especially with a visible solid part), the presence of diffuse microcalcifications, and irregular outlines of the nodule margins (the so-called corona radiata). Contrary to this, total - or central - calcification and 'popcorn-like' calcifications are rather typical for benign nodules. In some cases, it is also advisable to perform positron emission tomography (PET) in combination with CT (PET-CT), which plays an important role in the differentiation of benign and malignant lesions and in determining indications for other tests or further observation. Malignancy risk calculators (models) are an important method for the diagnosis of a single lung nodule. Several such models have been developed that use different clinical and radiological data. The best known are the Mayo Clinic [18, 19] and Brock University models [20]. The latter was used to assess the risk of the malignant nature of pulmonary lesions in the BTS recommendations. In



Figure 2. Initial diagnostic procedures in patients with a single solid pulmonary nodule according to [16]; CT — computed tomography; PET — positron emission tomography; SBRT — stereotactic body radiation therapy

patients with additional PET-CT, a calculator that takes into account its results is used [21].

PET-CT is helpful in assessing the tumour burden before planned surgical treatment and radical irradiation (the highest diagnostic accuracy in assessing the state of the mediastinal lymphatic system and detecting distant metastases) [22, 23] and should be performed in all patients qualified for surgical and radical radiotherapy (RT) or chemoradiotherapy (RCHT). The factor differentiating the cancerous nature of lesions in PET-CT is the standardised uptake value (SUV), which depends on many variables (e.g. equipment parameters). For this reason, it is not always possible to draw final conclusions entirely on the basis of SUVs. It is advisable that each department perform analyses of the compliance of PET-CT results and pathomorphological postoperative reports regarding lymph nodes status. Due to the possibility of obtaining false positive

or false negative results, PET-CT results should be treated with caution.

False positive results (especially in the lymph nodes) may occur in comorbidities with an inflammatory reaction (e.g. sarcoidosis, tuberculosis, or pneumoconiosis), while false negative results may in particular refer to adenocarcinomas. If the PET-CT result is positive or borderline, microscopic verification of possible neoplastic involvement of the lymph nodes using endobronchial ultrasonography (EBUS), oesophageal ultrasonography (EUS), or mediastinoscopy is necessary [22].

Brain imaging (preferably MR) is performed prior to planned radical treatment (patients in stages II and III before resection of pulmonary parenchyma and patients in grade III before combined radical RCHT; the remaining patients — only in the presence of suspicious symptoms). Evaluation of the bone system (scintigraphy or X-ray) is indicated in patients with symptoms suggestive of metastases [23].



Figure 3. Recommendations for the assessment of changes in nodule size and choice of further treatment according to [16]; CT — computed tomography; VDT — volume doubling time

Endoscopic examinations

Bronchofiberoscopy is indicated in patients with suspected lung cancer because:

- is necessary when qualifying for surgical treatment;
- gives an opportunity to obtain cytological or histological sample;
- is helpful in cancer staging.

In patients with lesions visible in the bronchial lumen, at least 5 samples should be taken. The use of a brush biopsy and the collection of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid specimens can increase the diagnostic value of a forceps biopsy, which is a standard procedure in bronchoscopic tissue sampling. A very important aspect of endoscopic examinations is the adequacy of pulmonary lesion assessment and biopsy effectiveness. In the case of endobronchial lesions, the sensitivity of cancer diagnosis based on the collected biopsies should be at least 80-85% [24]. The use of EBUS enables an effective and safe needle biopsy of various stations of the mediastinal lymph nodes and central extrabronchial tumours. Endobronchial ultrasound guided transbronchial needle aspiration (EBUS-TBNA) is performed using cytological needles (usually 20-22 G) or — less often histological needles (e.g. 19 G). It is recommended to take at least 2 samples from each location [24, 25]. The sensitivity of EBUS-TBNA in detecting cancer infiltration of mediastinal lymph nodes is approximately 80–85%. Oesophageal ultrasound guided fine-needle aspiration (EUS-FNA) shows a slightly lower sensitivity, but the combination of EBUS-TBNA and EUS-FNA allows for a diagnostic sensitivity of 86–95% [25–27].

The diagnostic value of bronchofiberoscopy is significantly lower in peripheral lesions. However, the use of modern navigation techniques — e.g. electromagnetic navigation bronchoscopy and endobronchosonography with radial mini-probe — allows us to obtain a diagnostic sensitivity of 70% [28]. Transthoracic needle aspiration (TTNA) is slightly more sensitive (65–90%), but this technique is associated with a significantly higher risk of complications in the form of pneumothorax [28, 29].

Laboratory tests

As part of the initial diagnosis, it is necessary to perform a complete blood count with smear and coagulation system parameters, biochemical tests (serum levels of glucose, creatinine, urea, sodium, potassium, calcium, bilirubin and transaminase, alkaline phosphatase, and



Figure 4. Management algorithm for non-solid nodules according to [16]; CT — computed tomography; SBRT — stereotactic body radiation therapy

LDH), and urinalysis. Other tests were carried out depending on individual indications. As part of the initial diagnosis and monitoring of the course of treatment, it is not recommended to assess serum markers, e.g. carcinoembryonic antigen or fragments of cytokeratin 19 [14, 23].

Pathological and molecular evaluation

The goals of pathological evaluation in the diagnosis of lung cancer include determination of histologic type and subtype as well as tumour range, differentiation of primary and secondary lesions, assessment of the so-called surgical margins, and detection of genetic disorders with significant importance for the choice of systemic treatment [10].

Primary examinations in pathological diagnostics of lung cancer include the following:

 histological evaluation of tissue samples taken during bronchofiberoscopy;

- cytological evaluation of bronchial brushing or bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL);
- histological or cytological evaluation of the material obtained with a biopsy through the chest wall, bronchus, or oesophagus.

Pathological evaluation should include IHC tests to determine the type and histological subtype of lung cancer and to differentiate the primary lung cancers and metastases in different localisations (in practice mainly adenocarcinomas). NEM determination is indicated only when morphological features of neuroendocrine differentiation are detected [10].

A histological examination of the tissue samples is desirable because it allows for the accurate determination of cancer type and subtype and facilitates the extension of the scope of molecular tests (particularly important in the case of choosing systemic treatment prior to local treatment and in patients not qualified for pulmonary parenchyma resection). Material of appropriate quality for histological examination includes bronchial specimens (collected with forceps or cryoprobes), samples obtained through percutaneous transthoracic core needle biopsy, and, in the case of using thicker needles, samples collected by EBUS-TBNA. Adequate amounts of good-quality and properly protected cytological material also allow reliable determination of tumour type and subtype, as well as performing molecular tests [10, 12].

Depending on the clinical situation and the location of cancer lesions, other methods of obtaining materials for histological and cytological examinations are also used, such as the following:

- cytological evaluation of pleural effusion and/or pleural needle biopsy;
- needle or surgical biopsy of peripheral lymph nodes;
- needle biopsy of metastatic lesions;
- mediastinoscopy;
- mediastinotomy;
- thoracoscopy;
- thoracotomy (after all other options have been exhausted)
- cytological sputum examination (low-sensitivity test, used only when the material for microscopic examination cannot be obtained by another method) [14, 23].
 Before starting treatment, it is necessary to estab-

lish a pathological diagnosis. If there are reasonable difficulties in obtaining the material for examination, with simultaneous clinical and radiological features indicating a very high probability of cancer, a multidisciplinary team may decide to start treatment without a pathological diagnosis.

Current diagnostics of lung cancer also includes molecular tests. Evaluation of biomarkers can be performed in tissue and cytological material (e.g. in an aspirate obtained with a fine-needle biopsy through the chest wall or bronchi). It is necessary to confirm a sufficient number of cells in preparation (neoplastic tissue should account for at least 20%), and in the case of cytological material, it is advisable to use methods of 'embedding' cytological material in a paraffin block [10, 12, 13]. An alternative to molecular testing using tissue or cytological material is the use for the assessment of somatic mutations' plasma cfDNA from dead cancer cells (so-called liquid biopsy). A negative result of cfDNA analysis is not conclusive, and re-biopsy is recommended [12, 13].

When qualifying for treatment with EGFR TKIs in patients with adenocarcinoma and NOS NSCLC, the presence of clinically relevant primary *EGFR* gene mutations (activating and responsible for resistance) should be evaluated, with *de novo* occurring in 10–15% and 1% of patients. Assessment of the *EGFR* gene within exons 18–21 should be carried out using a method with high sensitivity and specificity (preferably using a certified test for clinical diagnosis). The test must detect *EGFR* gene mutations that occur with a frequency of at least

1% among known *EGFR* disorders. It is advisable that laboratories performing genetic testing for lung cancer patients have 2 alternative methods of identifying genetic disorders. In the case of treatment failure with EGFR inhibitor generations I or II, re-biopsy is recommended to evaluate the presence of a secondary T790M mutation in the *EGFR* gene (mutation associated with resistance to EGFR TKIs) [12, 13].

In patients diagnosed with adenocarcinoma or unspecified NSCLC without activating mutations in the EGFR gene, ALK, and ROS1 genes should be assessed to detect rearrangements that occur in 3-5% and 1% of patients, respectively. The presence of ALK gene rearrangements can be found directly by fluorescence in situ hybridisation (FISH) and new generation sequencing (NGS) or indirectly by assessing membrane expression of ALK fusion protein with the use of IHC. In the assessment of ROS1 gene rearrangement, the FISH or NGS method is recommended with the possibility of preselection based on ROS1 fusion protein expression by IHC. The presence of rearrangement of both genes or the presence of respective fusion proteins is an indication of the use of ALK/ROS1 TKIs. NGS method enables simultaneous assessment of the condition of many genes, shortens the time needed to perform the full range of molecular tests, and significantly reduces the consumption of tissue material. Complexity and interpretation difficulties mean that the NGS test should be performed only in laboratories with proven experience in this area [13].

Simultaneous evaluation of clinically relevant biomarkers based on one referral is recommended [14].

In the case of the development of other molecular-targeted drugs and their reimbursement, the scope of tests should be extended (e.g. mutations in *BRAF* and *HER2* genes and rearrangements in *MET*, *RET*, and *NTRK* genes) [14]. High reliability of pathomorphological diagnostics with the use of IHC and diagnostics with molecular biology methods can be provided only by laboratories with properly documented experience, having a valid certificate of European quality control programme for all tests, regularly subjected to periodic external quality control, and ensuring comprehensive and simultaneous execution of analytical procedures.

- The diagnosis of lung cancer in Poland takes far too long. The condition for the improvement of the situation is the creation of specialised centres for comprehensive diagnostics and treatment.
- In each patient with suspected lung cancer, a medical history and physical examination, chest imaging (conventional radiography and CT, in justified situations — MR imaging), and bronchofiberoscopy should be performed (IV, A).

- Every patient qualified for resection of pulmonary parenchyma or radio(chemo)therapy with radical intention should be examined with the use of PET (II, A).
- Brain imaging should be performed in patients with stages II and III before planned pulmonary parenchyma resection and with stage III before radical radio(chemo)therapy (II, B).
- Performing other tests (including PET) should depend on the clinical situation and the planned treatment (IV, A).
- It is not recommended to perform serum marker tests as part of the diagnosis of lung cancer (II, A).
- In the case of the presence of a single nodule in parenchyma of an undefined nature and a diameter of up to 3 cm, the probability of malignancy and resection using PET should be determined. Further invasive diagnostics should be based on malignancy risk, individual circumstances and treatment plan (IV, A).
- The basic tests performed to obtain the material to determine the pathomorphological diagnosis and molecular characteristics of lung cancer are bronchoscopy and biopsy through the chest wall, bronchus, or oesophagus (IV, A).
- The results of pathological evaluation in lung cancer should include determination of tumour histological type and subtype, and in case of postoperative examination should also include the diagnosis of lung cancer (histological type and subtype and grade), assessment of lymph node status, as well as blood vessels and lymphatic vessels, assessment of surgical margins and tumour staging according to the current disease pathological classification (IV, A).
- Pathological diagnosis of lung cancer should be supplemented by immunohistochemistry and — in the case of patients with advanced lung cancer — genetic tests to detect disorders that are important when deciding on systemic treatment (currently — EGFR, ALK, and ROS1 genes) (I, A).
- In the case of treatment failure with I-or II-generation EGFR inhibitors, re-biopsy is recommended to assess the presence of secondary T790M mutation in the EGFR gene (I, A).
- In patients with advanced lung cancer qualifying for immunotherap`y with immune checkpoint inhibitors, the expression of the PD-L1 protein should be determined (II, B).
- Diagnosis of not otherwise specufied non-small-cell lung cancer can be made only if it is not possible to obtain the appropriate material for evaluation (IV, A).

Staging

Determination of lung cancer stage includes assessment of primary tumour (T feature), regional lymph nodes (N feature), and organs in which metastases may occur (M feature). In patients qualified for treatment with a radical intention, it is necessary to determine the size and location of the primary tumour and its relation to the surrounding anatomical structures (chest wall, pleura, diaphragm, heart, large vessels, and oesophagus) and the state of regional lymph nodes. The list of examinations applied in the staging assessment is presented in Table 3. On the basis of the combined assessment of T, N, and M features (Tab. 4), the clinical stage of NSCLC is determined (Tab. 5). At the diagnosis of NSCLC, the proportion of patients in stages I–II, III, and IV was approximately 25%, 35%, and 40%.

In the assessment of the SCLC stage, a simplified classification has been applied so far, which distinguishes the stage of limited disease (LD) or extensive disease (ED). The term of a LD was defined as a tumour that did not exceed one-half of the chest, regardless of meta-static involvement of the ipsilateral hilar lymph node and bilateral mediastinal and supraclavicular lymph nodes, not excluding ipsilateral malignant pleural tumour effusion. The presence of tumour lesions outside the mentioned area indicated the diagnosis of ED. Currently, in SCLC — as in NSCLC — the TNM classification is recommended [14].

The frequency of SCLC in stages I–III and IV at diagnosis according to the TNM classification is approximately 35% and 65%.

In patients with lung cancer subjected to excision of the pulmonary parenchyma and lymph nodes, the final stage is determined on the basis of a pathological examination of the surgical material. The 'pathological' stage (pTNM) determined in this way is more accurate and reflects the prognosis of patients better than the clinically defined stage (cTNM) [30, 31].

- Non-small-cell lung cancer staging should be performed using the principles and criteria for the TNM classification (IV, A).
- If two lesions are suspected to be primary cancers, they should be classified separately (III, A).
- In lung cancer patients with mediastinal lymph node involvement found on imaging examinations, while qualifying for possible resection of pulmonary parenchyma, pathological confirmation of the nature of suspicious lesions should be obtained (IV, B).
- In patients before the planned radical treatment, it is advisable — if possible — to obtain a pathological confirmation of the presence of cancer in the single suspected lesions detected in imaging studies in other organs (IV, A).
- In patients with lung cancer subjected to excision of the pulmonary parenchyma and lymph nodes, the final stage is determined on the basis of pathological examination of the postoperative material (IV, A).

Primary tumour assessment	Lymph node assessment	Distant metastasis assessment
— X-ray	— CT (less frequent MR)	— US or CT of the abdomen
— CT (less frequent MR)	— Bronchofiberoscopy	— Biopsy of single lesion in adrenal gland
— Bronchofiberoscopy	— Mediastinoscopy	with suspicion of metastasis
— Transbronchial biopsy ('blind', 'semi-	— Parasternal mediastinotomy	— CT or MR of the brain (SCLC — always;
blind' transbronchial biopsy with the	— PET-CT*	NSCLC — before planned radical
use of radial ultrasound transducer,	— Physical examination	treatment [details in the text] and in
EBUS, EUS)	— FNA or surgical biopsy of suspected	case of clinical suspicions)
— Biopsy through the chest wall	supraclavicular lymph nodes	— Bone scintigraphy (SCLC — planned
(peripheral changes)	— Thoracoscopy	combination treatment, NSCLC
 Cryobiopsy of peripheral lesions 	— EUS**	— clinical suspicion)
— Cytological examination of pleural or	— EBUS**	— PET-CT*
pericardial effusion		 FNA or surgical biopsy of suspected
		lesions

Table 3. Examinations used for lung cancer staging

*In the assessment of the mediastinal lymphatic system in patients with potential indications for surgical treatment, PET-CT is a complementary method (negative PET-CT result with enlarged lymph nodes with > 10 mm in short axis size in the CT requires invasive mediastinal diagnostics, and in the case of smaller dimensions, resignation from EBUS/EUS or mediastinoscopy is justified; positive PET-CT result does not mean the presence of metastases and in any case requires histological verification using mediastinoscopy or a US-guided biopsy). In addition, in patients with potential indications for surgical treatment, PET-CT allows for a more precise assessment of distant organs (especially metastases in the adrenal glands and bones). Suspicion of metastases in mediastinal lymph nodes or in other organs does not relieve the need for a biopsy. PET-CT examination is indicated in cancer staging before the planned surgical treatment and is useful in assessing the extent of the disease and in planning radical RT or RCHT in patients with locally advanced NSCLC. PET-CT is an alternative to other imaging studies and bilateral bone marrow repanobiopsy in the assessment of the SCLC stage before planned treatment with a radical intention (I–III stage = limited disease form). Bone marrow evaluation in patients with SCLC is not necessary in the case of normal LDH activity, absence of bone metastases in scintigraphy, and thrombocytopenia. MR examination may be helpful in cases of diagnostic difficulties in patients with suspected bone metastases and inconclusive results from other imaging examinations.

**Invasive mediastinal assessment (EBUS/EUS) is also recommended in the case of a negative PET-CT or CT result in patients with perihilar or peripheral lung cancer if one of the following features is present: (i) tumour with a diameter of more than 3 cm, (ii) no uptake or very low uptake in primary tumour, (iii) suspicion of ipsilateral involvement of hilar lymph nodes in PET-CT or CT [14].

CT — computed tomography; EBUS — endobronchial ultrasonography; EUS — oesophageal ultrasonography; FNA — fine-needle aspiration; LDH — lactate dehydrogenase; MR — magnetic resonance; NSCLC — non-small-cell lung cancer; PET — positron emission tomography; RCHT — radiochemotherapy; RT — radiotherapy; SCLC — small-cell lung cancer; US — ultrasonography

Respiratory and cardiovascular capacity assessments

Before the planned surgical treatment and radical RT or RCHT, the risk of cardiovascular complications should be assessed, and the efficiency of lung ventilation and gas exchange should be determined. Medical history, physical examination, electrocardiography, and (if indicated) echocardiography, exercise electrocardiography, and coronary angiography play important roles in assessing the risk of cardiovascular complications. The test that assesses lung ventilation is spirometry, and the most important indicator used in qualifying for surgery is forced expiratory volume 1^{st} second (FEV₁). The recommended method of assessing gas exchange efficiency is the measurement of the lung transfer factor for carbon monoxide (TLCO), also known as the diffusion lung capacity for carbon monoxide (DLCO). The above-mentioned examinations should be performed on each patient before surgical treatment is planned, because they are crucial for further treatment planning. The results of FEV₁ and DLCO can be assessed using the percentage of predicted value or predicted postoperative value expressed as the percentage of predicted value [32]. Patients with FEV_1 and TLCO results above 80% of the predicted value or an estimated postoperative value higher than 60% of the predicted value have a low risk of perioperative complications and can be qualified for surgery without additional tests. In patients with lower values, it is necessary to perform an additional functional assessment using simple exercise tests (stair climb test or pendulum test) or a full cardiopulmonary exercise test with VO_{2max} measurement. In the case of the stair climb test, climbing a height above 22 metres allows us to conclude that there is a low risk of postoperative complications, and climbing below 10 metres indicates a high risk and absolutely requires a full cardiopulmonary exercise test [33]. Figure 5 presents the recommended algorithm according to ACCP [35].

- In lung cancer patients, cardiovascular, and respiratory capacity assessment is necessary before planned treatment (III, A).
- In all lung cancer patients, the co-occurence of other serious diseases should be taken into account before deciding on treatment (III, A).

Features	Characteristics
т	
тх	Primary tumour cannot be assessed or tumour proven by presence of malignant cells in sputum or bronchial washings but not visualised by imaging or bronchoscopy
то	No evidence of primary tumour
Tis	Carcinoma <i>in situ</i>
T1	Tumour 3 cm in greatest dimension surrounded by lung or visceral pleura without invasion in the main bronchus
T1a(mi)	Minimally invasive adenocarcinoma — solitary adenocarcinoma \leq 3 cm with a predominately lepidic pattern and \leq 5 mm invasion in any one focus
T1a	Tumour \leq 1 cm in greatest dimension (also uncommon superficial spreading tumour of any size with its invasive component limited to the bronchial wall, which may extend proximal to the main bronchus)
T1b	Tumour >1 cm but ≤ 2 cm in greatest dimension
T1c	Tumour > 2 cm but ≤ 3 cm in greatest dimension
T2	Tumour > 3 cm but ≤ 5 cm or tumour with any of the following features: — involves main bronchus regardless of distance from the carina but without involvement of the carina — invades visceral pleura — associated with atelectasis or obstructive pneumonitis that extends to the hilar region, involving part or all of the lung
T2a	Tumour > 3 cm but \leq 4 cm in greatest dimension
T2b	Tumour > 4 cm but \leq 5 cm in greatest dimension
Т3	Tumour > 5 cm but ≤ 7 cm in greatest dimension or a tumour of any size with infiltration of one of these areas: — chest wall (including the parietal pleura and superior sulcus tumours) — phrenic nerve — parietal pericardium or tumour with co-occuring satelliate lesion(s) in the same lobe as the primary tumour
Τ4	Tumour > 7 cm in greatest dimension or a tumour of any size with infiltration of one of these areas: — mediastinum — diaphragm — heart — great vessels — trachea — recurrent laryngeal nerve — oesophagus — vertebral body — carina or tumour of any size co-occuring with satellite lesion(s) in a different ipsilateral lobe than that of the primary tumour
N	
NX	Regional lymph nodes cannot be assessed
N0	No regional lymph node metastases
N1	Metastases in ipsilateral peribronchial and/or ipsilateral hilar lymph nodes and intrapulmonary nodes, including involvement by direct extension
N2	Metastases in ipsilateral mediastinal and/or subcarinal lymph node(s)
N3	Metastases in contralateral mediastinal, contralateral hilar, ipsilateral or contralateral scalene, or supraclavicular lymph node(s)
М	
MX	Distant metastases cannot be assessed
M0	No distant metastases
M1	Distant metastases present
M1a	Satelliate lesion(s) in a contralateral lobe; tumour with pleural or pericardial nodule(s) or malignant pleural or pericardial effusion
M1b	Single extrathoracic metastases
M1c	Multiple extrathoracic metastases in one or more organs

Table 4. TNM classification of lung cancer (UICC, 2016) [30]

Stages	Characteristics		
Occult carcinoma	ТХ	NO	M0
0	Tis	NO	M0
IA1	T1a(mi), T1a	NO	M0
IA2	T1b	NO	M0
IA3	T1c	NO	M0
IB	T2a	NO	M0
IIA	T2b	N0	M0
IIB	T1a, T1b, T1c	N1	M0
	T2a, T2b	N1	M0
	Т3	N0	M0
IIIA	T1a, T1b, T1c, T2a,	N2	M0
	T2b	N2	M0
	Т3	N1	M0
	T4	N0, N1	M0
IIIB	ТЗ, Т4	N2	M0
	T1a, T1b, T1c, T2a,	N3	M0
	T2b	N3	M0
IIIC	ТЗ, Т4	N3	M0
IVA	Any T	Any N	M1a, M1b
IVB	Any T	Any N	M1c

Table 5. Stages of lung cancer (UICC, 2016) [30]

Treatment

Treatment of patients with lung cancer (general principles — see Fig. 6) should be planned by a multidisciplinary team (thoracic surgeon, radiation oncologist, medical oncologist, pneumonologist, specialist in radiodiagnostics, and pathologist) and carried out in centres with full access to current diagnostic methods, surgical treatment, RT, and systemic treatment. Such centres should have appropriate experience and capabilities for the use of combined treatment and appropriate management in cases of complications, which are often inevitable.

Non-small-cell lung cancer — treatment in stages I–II and IIIA (patients with potentially resectable disease)

Surgical treatment

In patients with NSCLC in stages I and II and in selected patients with stage IIIA (without the N2 feature), the treatment of choice is radical resection of the pulmonary parenchyma [36]. In the case of the N1 feature, before assessment of eligibility for resection, it is necessary to exclude the N2 feature using EBUS/EUS or mediastinoscopy. In patients with stage IIIA with the presence of the N2 feature, the results of primary surgical treatment are bad — resection of pulmonary parenchyma can be considered only in selected patients,

provided complete response within lymph nodes following neoadjuvant chemotherapy (CHT) is confirmed in PET-CT and mediastinoscopy [37, 38].

Lobectomy is the method of choice for patients who are eligible for resection. Pneumonectomy is performed only when the lobectomy is not likely to be radical. Both types of resections are routinely accompanied by the removal of ipsilateral hilar lymph nodes and mediastinal nodes [36, 39]. The postoperative material should contain at least 6 lymph nodes from the N1 (3 lymph nodes) and N2 groups (3 lymph nodes; always lymph nodes below the tracheal bifurcation — group number 7). The influence of the extent of lymphadenectomy on the results of surgical treatment has not been definitively established, but a more extensive excision of the lymphatic system allows for a more complete postoperative determination of the disease stage and facilitates qualification for adjuvant treatment [36, 38, 39]. In patients with stage I and some patients with stage II lung cancer, the recommended method of treatment is a videothoracoscopic lobectomy [40, 41]. More limited resection (anatomical segmentectomy) is justified only in patients with significant limitation of respiratory reserves and in the case of *in situ* or minimally invasive adenocarcinoma [42].

If resection is not possible due to significant medical contraindications or lack of patient's consent, the use of radical RT or RCHT should be considered with modern PET-CT-based planning techniques (dose



Figure 5. Algorithm for functional assessment, risk stratification, and qualification for resection procedures in lung cancer according to the American College of Chest Physicians (ACCP) — modified; DLCO — diffusion lung capacity for carbon monoxide; VO₂max — maximum oxygen uptake

intensity modulation, consideration of respiratory motion, irradiation based on current imaging) with a total dose of 60–66 Gy (2.0 Gy per fraction). This treatment can be used in patients with good PS and without a significant reduction of respiratory and circulatory capacity. In patients with small size (T1 or T2) peripheral tumours and without metastases in lymph nodes detected in imaging tests (PET-CT) who are not eligible for surgical treatment due to limited respiratory and/or cardiovascular function, management of choice is stereotactic RT, which allows a percentage of local cure to be obtained like that of surgical treatment. The role of stereotactic RT in perihilar tumours is still under investigation [43]. The ablation methods (e.g. thermoablation or cryoablation) in patients with limited respiratory and circulatory capacity can be considered only after excluding the possibility of surgical treatment and radiotherapy.

Postoperative radiotherapy

The results of the meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials showed that in patients with pN0 and pN1 features, postoperative RT may even worsen treatment outcomes, and in patients with pIIIA, it reduces the risk of local recurrence and slightly prolongs overall survival [44]. The main limitations of this meta-analysis are the suboptimal RT techniques used in previous clinical trials and inadequate patient selection. While the results



Figure 6. Principles of primary treatment of patients with lung cancer; CHT — chemotherapy; CHT + RT — chemoradiotherapy; NSCLC — non-small-cell lung cancer; PCI — prophylactic cranial irradiation (elective brain irradiation in patients with response to RCHT or CHT); RT — radiotherapy; SCLC — small-cell lung cancer

of the next meta-analysis of RCTs suggest a beneficial effect of modern postoperative RT in relation to local control and survival time in patients in the pIII stage [45, 46], the results of the LungART study indicate that postoperative RT in patients with stage pIIIA and pN2 features is not justified [47].

Adjuvant RT is indicated when the presence of malignant cells is confirmed in the cutting during in postoperative histological examination, but it is not recommended after complete tumour resection (tumour-free surgical margin — R0) and in the presence of pN0 or pN1 features, provided that the pN feature is reliably assessed. Adjuvant RT uses a dose of 60-66 Gy (fractional dose 2.0 Gy per day with conventional fractionation and a 4–15 MeV megavoltage beam). Treatment should be initiated within 6 weeks of surgery [42].

Postoperative chemotherapy

The results of a meta-analysis of studies with random selection of patients indicate that the use of postoperative

CHT improves 5-year survival by approximately 5% [48]. Significant benefits of adjuvant CHT apply only to patients in stages II and IIIA (including patients undergoing postoperative RT), but advantage is independent from gender and age of patients as well as the histological type of cancer. For patients in stage I, adjuvant CHT does not improve their outcome.

Postoperative CHT should include 3–4 cycles of a regimen with cisplatin 80–100 mg/m² on day 1 in combination with vinorelbine at a dose of 25–30 mg/m² on days one and 8 (frequency every 3 weeks) [48]. Postoperative CHT can be used only in patients with excellent or good PS, with full recovery after surgery, and without significant comorbidities and medical contraindications. The risk of adverse reactions during postoperative CHT is more pronounced in patients over 70 years of age and after pneumonectomy. In the case of simultaneous indications for postoperative RT, irradiation may be started at the same time as CHT. The usefulness of molecular prognostic and predictive factor assessment in the qualification of postoperative CHT has not yet been proven [12].

The phase III ADAURA study compared the value of postoperative treatment with osimertinib for 3 years versus a placebo in patients with stages IB-IIIA NSCLC with activating EGFR gene mutations (exon 19 deletion or exon 21 substitutions) who had undergone pulmonary resection (60% of patients received CHT). Patients with stages II and IIIA showed a 60% reduction in the relative risk of death. The relative risk of progression or death in patients with stages II and IIIA using osimertinib was lower by 83%, while in the entire study population (IB-IIIA stage) by 80%. The benefits were not related to the use of adjuvant chemotherapy. Adverse effects in the group of patients receiving osimertinib were slightly more frequent, with no adverse impact on quality of life [49]. In the case of a positive registration decision, the results of the ADAURA study will justify testing the EGFR gene status in patients undergoing parenchymal resection.

Postoperative rehabilitation

Postoperative rehabilitation improve physical capacity, muscle strength and alleviates the symptoms of fatigue, shortness of breath and depression in patients after lung parenchyma resection. It is a safe procedure that shortens length of hospital stay and reduces the incidence of pulmonary postoperative complications [50, 51].

The postoperative rehabilitation program should include chest physiotherapy, aerobic and resistance exercises, as well as inspiratory muscle training and breathing exercises. Aerobic exercise — performed 3 times a week at 50-70% of the heart rate reserve (difference between maximum exercise heart rate and resting heart rate) — supplemented with resistance exercises is safe and contributes to increased fitness and reduced premature death risk. Further research is needed regarding patients qualification and program, duration and frequency of postoperative rehabilitation, as well as its impact on the incidence of complications and deaths in the postoperative period [50].

Preoperative treatment

In previous studies, preoperative CHT was mainly used in selected patients with stage IIIA and pN2 features, but the optimal treatment strategy has not been definitively determined. In a meta-analysis of randomised controlled trials of 2385 patients in IB–IIIA stages, a 13% reduction in relative risk of death was found, which corresponds to 5% absolute difference in 5-year survival (statistically significant difference) in favour of preoperative CHT compared with surgical treatment alone [52].

Preoperative CHT may be considered in patients with pIIIA stage with feasible lobectomy (initial CHT in patients undergoing pneumonectomy does not prolong survival as compared to less aggressive resection), always based on multidisciplinary team decision after reliable determination of mediastinal lymph nodes (imaging and invasive tests - pN2 feature). Treatment includes 2-3 cycles of CHT using a regimen with cisplatin in combination with vinorelbine, gemcitabine, paclitaxel, docetaxel, or pemetrexed. It is necessary to carefully monitor the response and tolerance of preoperative treatment. Surgical treatment can be carried out after recovery from haematological toxicity during a 3-week gap from the last CHT cycle. The condition for qualifying for resection is to obtain a confirmed complete response in the mediastinal lymph nodes, either histologically or in PET-CT scan [42, 52].

Preoperative RCHT does not improve outcomes. The use of RCHT is only justified in patients with superior sulcus tumour (Pancoast tumour), in whom simultaneous use of CHT (2 cycles of cisplatin in combination with the second drug) and RT (50–60 Gy) in most cases allows to achieve complete resection. Surgery should be performed 4–6 weeks after completion of RCHT [4, 53].

Preoperative rehabilitation

Preoperative rehabilitation (especially in patients with concomitant chronic obstructive pulmonary disease) is important in reducing the risk of postoperative complications and shortening length of hospital stay in lung cancer patients, as it improves fitness and physical capacity of patients qualified for pulmonary resection [54].

Pre-operative rehabilitation should include chest physiotherapy, inspiratory muscle training, and moderate to high intensity aerobic and resistance exercises. The most often recommended is a 4-week rehabilitation program, which includes 10 to 45 minutes trainings performed 3–5 times a week. Further research is needed regarding patients qualification and program, duration and frequency of preoperative rehabilitation, as well as its impact on the incidence of complications and deaths in the postoperative period [55, 56].

Recommendations

- Resection of the pulmonary parenchyma with removal of hilar and mediastinal lymph nodes is the treatment of choice in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer in stages I–II and IIIA with N1 features (I, A).
- Lobectomy is the preferred method of pulmonary resection. Pneumonectomy can only be performed if the lobectomy does not ensure complete resection (II, A).
- In patients with stage I non-small-cell lung cancer I and some stage II patients, the recommended method is a videothoracoscopic lobectomy (I, A).
- Rehabilitation is necessary in lung cancer patients before the planned surgical treatment (II, A).
- Early rehabilitation is essential in patients after lung parenchyma resection (II, A).
- In patients with non-small-cell lung cancer with T1 or T2 features and without metastases in lymph nodes, who are not eligible for surgical treatment due to respiratory or circulatory failure, stereotactic radiotherapy is the treatment of choice (II, A).
- In patients in the I–IIIA stages, who are not eligible for resection and stereotactic radiotherapy, radical radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy should be used (II, A).
- Postoperative adjuvant radiotherapy in patients with pN0, pN1, and pN2 features is not justified (I, A), except in patients after incomplete resection (III, B).
- Postoperative radiotherapy should be started within 6 weeks of surgery; it can be started simultaneously with chemotherapy (III, B).
- Postoperative chemotherapy (cisplatin and vinorelbine — 3-4 cycles) in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer is recommended for pII and pIII stages (I, A).
- Preoperative chemotherapy (regimens containing 2 drugs, including cisplatin) can be used in selected patients with non-small-cell lung cancer in stage IIIA with a pN2 feature (I, B).
- Surgery may be offered for patients with non-smallcell lung cancer with the N2 feature only if a complete response to chemotherapy, confirmed by PET and mediastinoscopy, is achieved (II, B).
- In patients diagnosed with superior sulcus non--small-cell lung cancer, potentially qualifying for surgery, preoperative radiotherapy or chemoradiotherapy should be used (II, A).

Non-small-cell lung cancer — treatment in IIIA (patients with unresectable disease) and IIIB stages

Patients with stage IIIA NSCLC, in whom complete resection cannot be performed due to advanced stage of disease or other reasons, as well as stage IIIB patients, should receive RT or RCHT. The primary surgical treatment — based on the management principles in patients with stages II-IIIA - may be considered in selected patients with T4N0 or T4N1 stages, whereas patients with T1-3N3 and T4N2-N3 stages are not eligible for resection, and RT or RCHT is the treatment of choice in this group [42, 53, 57]. The differences in the management that are mentioned above justify conducting full diagnostics to assess the status of lymph nodes classified as N2 and N3 features. The presence of pleural or pericardial effusion (confirmed by cytological examination of the material obtained with puncture or thoracoscopy) currently qualifies the tumour as grade M1 and constitutes an indication for treatment under the rules in force in generalised disease.

The results of a meta-analysis of randomised clinical trials indicate that the combination of RT and CHT is more effective compared to RT alone, and the simultaneous RCHT is of more value than the sequential use of both methods, but at a higher risk of acute oesophagitis and, to a lesser extent, pneumotoxicity and myelotoxicity [58]. Simultaneous RCHT can be used in specialised centres with the availability to manage posttreatment complications. Chemoradiotherapy-especially concurrent therapy - can only be considered in patients with good PS, without significant (more than 10% of the predicted value) weight loss, with limited tumour mass and adequate respiratory capacity [42, 57]. In some patients who do not qualify for concurrent RCHT (e.g. due to tumour burden), 2-4 cycles of induction CHT may be considered, with the necessity to monitor the response to initial systemic therapy. In selected patients over 70 years of age in excellent PS, with normal cardiorespiratory capacity and without serious comorbidities, sequential CHT and RT may be used [59]. Irradiation should begin within 2-3 weeks of CHT completion (longer intervals reduce the effect of initial CHT). In the case of progression during CHT, it should be terminated, and RT should start immediately.

The use of CHT before or after concurrent RCHT (induction or consolidation therapy) does not improve treatment outcomes but is associated with a higher incidence of side effects and is therefore not recommended [42, 53, 57]. The results of the phase III PACIFIC study showed that the use of consolidation immunotherapy with durvalumab (monoclonal antibody blocking PD-L1) in patients with stage III NSCLC with objective response or stable disease following concomitant RCHT decreases the relative risk of disease progression or death by 48% compared to the placebo (median duration of progression-free survival — 17 and 6 months) and significantly increases overall survival (reduction of relative risk of death by 29%, medians — 47 months for durvalumab and 29 months for placebo; 4-year survival — 50% and 36%). The incidence of severe adverse events was similar in both groups [60].

In radical RT (alone or in combination with CHT), a dose of 60–66 Gy is applied using a high-energy photon beam with conventional fractionation (2.0 Gy per day) and conformal planning [53, 57]. Increasing the dose above 66 Gy does not add any clinical benefit [57]. The irradiated volume should cover the area of the primary tumour and involve the hilar and mediastinal lymph nodes. It is recommended to use modern RT techniques (planning based on PET-CT, modulation of dose intensity, consideration of respiratory motion, irradiation based on real-time imaging). Irradiation of non-affected groups of lymph nodes, particularly of the opposite mediastinal and supraclavicular areas, does not improve efficacy or increase treatment toxicity.

Contraindications for radical RT or RCHT include impaired PS (grade 2 or higher according to the WHO scale), presence of pleural effusion, active infection, weight loss over 10% of the normal value in the 3 months preceding the treatment initiation, and coexistence of other serious diseases (e.g. severe cardiovascular or respiratory failure, recent myocardial infarction or stroke, renal failure). In the aforementioned situations, palliative RT or CHT is used [42, 57].

As part of the simultaneous RCHT (treatment of choice), cisplatin (75–80 mg/m² — day 1) is used in combination with etoposide (100–120 mg/m² — day 1, 2, and 3) or vinorelbine (25 mg/m² — day 1 and 8), and in patients with non-squamous-cell carcinoma cisplatin (75 mg/m² — day 1) in combination with pemetrexed (500 mg/m² — day 1). In the case of sequential RCHT, regimens consisting of cisplatin and one of the above-mentioned drugs or taxoids (docetaxel 75 mg/m² — day 1 or paclitaxel 200 mg/m^2 — day 1) can be used. In patients with contraindications to cisplatin, carboplatin (AUC 6 - day 1) may be used in combination with the drugs listed above. Subsequent cycles of CHT within the sequential and simultaneous RCHT should be repeated at 21-day intervals [42, 53, 57].

In patients with contraindications to RCHT, only radical RT at a dose of 60–66 Gy (30–33 fractions) may be used. The use of hypofractionated RT (66 Gy/22 fractions) is also allowed [42, 53]. However, a recent analysis of RCTs indicates that the conditions for the benefit from hypofractionated RT use in combination with CHT in patients who are not eligible for radical RT are good PS and a life expectancy of at least 3 months [61]. The decision regarding the selection of the fractionation scheme should be made on the basis of an individual assessment of post-radiation complication risk.

Recommendations

- Surgical treatment (primary or preceded by initial chemotherapy) can only be considered in selected patients with locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (II, B).
- The treatment of choice in patients with locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer is radical chemoradiation or — in the case of contraindications to chemotherapy — radiotherapy alone (in both situations, a dose of 60–66 Gy, including primary tumour and ipsilateral hilar and mediastinal lymph nodes) (I, A).
- In patients with locally advanced superior sulcus, non-small-cell lung cancer resection should be preceded by radiochemotherapy, and if resection is impossible, they should receive radiochemotherapy alone (III, A).
- In patients with locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer, the treatment of choice is simultaneous radiotherapy and chemotherapy, while sequential therapy is acceptable only in the case of a clinically justified inability to conduct simultaneous chemoradiation (I, A).
- The chemotherapy regimens for combined chemoradiotherapy in patients with locally advanced non-small-cell lung cancer should include cisplatin (I, A).
- Consolidating chemotherapy after chemoradiotherapy is not justified (I, A).
- In patients undergoing radical simultaneous chemoradiation with PD-L1 expression on tumour cells, consolidation with durvalumab should be considered (I, A).

Non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC) — treatment in stage IV

The treatment of patients with disseminated NSCLC is of a palliative nature. Depending on the individual clinical situation, the use of CHT or EGFR, ALK, and ROS1 TKIs, immunotherapy or immunochemotherapy, palliative RT, or symptomatic treatment alone may be considered. Currently, EGFR inhibitors (afatinib, erlotinib, gefitinib, dakomitinib and osimertinib), ALK (alectinib, brigatinib, ceritinib, lorlatinib and crizotinib), ROS1 inhibitors (crizotinib), and PD-1 (nivolumab, pembrolizumab) or PD-L1 inhibitors (atezolizumab) are available in Poland for the treatment of patients with metastatic lung cancer. The choice of systemic treatment method depends on the histological type (non-squamous or squamous-cell carcinoma), molecular features of the tumour, and registered indications. In patients with activating genetic abnormalities, the treatment of choice is a molecularly targeted treatment. The choice of treatment should take into account the patient's age and PS, as well as the presence of comorbidities. In patients with non-squamous-cell carcinoma, the possible presence of primary mutations (activating and responsible for resistance) in exons 18-21 of the EGFR gene and ALK and ROS1 gene rearrangements should be determined. These tests are best performed within one medical referral. Determination of PD-L1 expression using the validated IHC method to qualify patients with squamous-and non-squamous-cell carcinoma for immunotherapy can be carried out using tissue or cellular material (in case of non-squamous-cell carcinoma, it should be preceded by an assessment of EGFR, ALK, and ROS1 genes status). If, in the case of tumour relapse, it is not possible to perform a genetic test in archived tumour material, a re-biopsy is recommended. In patients with progression during treatment with EGFR TKIs, it is necessary to resample the material for molecular testing to evaluate the mechanism of resistance (possible presence of T790M mutation). Firstly, it is recommended to evaluate for this mutation in circulating DNA (cfDNA, liquid biopsy), and if a negative result is obtained - excision or needle re-biopsy should be considered. When choosing the procedure, the patient's preferences should be taken into account. In selected patients with single adrenal or cerebral metastases - based on the decision of a multidisciplinary team - surgical treatment including excision of primary and metastatic lesions may be considered.

First-line systemic treatment

Chemotherapy

Numerous randomised clinical studies and meta-analyses have shown survival prolongation and quality of life improvement in patients with advanced NSCLC receiving palliative CHT [62, 63].

Palliative CHT in patients with stage IV NSCLC may be used if:

- PS is excellent or good (WHO category -0 or 1);
- no body weight loss of no more than 10% is revealed within the 3 months before starting treatment;
- no serious comorbidities and/or sequelae of previous anticancer treatment were found;
- adequate function of the haematopoietic system, liver, kidneys, and cardiovascular and respiratory system is confirmed;
- objective assessment of response to treatment according to RECIST (Response Evaluation Criteria in Solid Tumours) criteria, version 1.1. is possible.

Patients who do not meet all the above-mentioned conditions may receive the best supportive care or palliative RT, depending on the individual situation. Palliative RT, regardless of lesions in other organs, is the method of choice in patients with troublesome symptoms associated with the spread of a tumour in the chest (symptoms of superior vena cava syndrome, obstructive dyspnoea, haemoptysis, dysphagia, pain). Irradiation is also useful in patients with painful or fracture-threatening bone metastases and secondary deposits in the central nervous system (CNS).

In advanced NSCLC, CHT regimens contain cisplatin (75-80 mg/m² intravenously- day 1) in combination with one of the following drugs: etoposide $(100-120 \text{ mg/m}^2 \text{ intravenously} - \text{day } 1, 2, \text{ and } 3),$ vinorelbine (30 mg/m² intravenously — day 1 and 8 or 30 mg/m² intravenously — day 1 and 60 mg/m² orally — day 8 or 60 mg/m² orally — day 1 and 8), gemcitabine (1000 mg/m² — day 1 and day 8), docetaxel $(75 \text{ mg/m}^2 - \text{day 1})$, paclitaxel (200 mg/m² - day 1), or pemetrexed (500 mg/m² — day 1), wherein in combination with pemetrexed the recommended dose of cisplatin is 75 mg/m² (day 1 of the cycle). The results of meta-analyses of RCTs showed that cisplatin-containing regimens, compared with carboplatin (especially in combination with taxoids and gemcitabine), result in longer overall survival [64, 65]. The use of carboplatin (AUC 5-6 - day 1) in combination with these drugs may only be considered in patients with contraindications to the use of cisplatin (gemcitabine and pemetrexed are registered only in combination with cisplatin).

In NSCLC patients with histology other than those with predominant squamous-cell carcinoma, the combination of cisplatin and pemetrexed is more effective than other CHT regimens [66].

Patients older than 70 years and in good PS (grades 0–1 on the WHO scale) can receive multidrug CHT [67].

Regimens without platinum derivatives can be considered only in the case of contraindications to the use of this group of drugs [65]. In the case of absolute contraindications to the use of regimens containing 2 drugs, (including platinum derivatives) single-agent CHT (e.g. intravenous or oral vinorelbine) may be considered [68].

The duration of palliative CHT depends on its effectiveness and tolerance, which justifies the assessment of treatment effects not later than after the second cycle. Treatment should not exceed 3–4 cycles in general, but patients with evidence of increasing response may use an additional 2 cycles (a total of 6 cycles of CHT) [69].

The use of maintenance therapy with pemetrexed (in Poland not reimbursed) after obtaining an objective response after initial CHT may slightly prolong the overall survival (difference — 1-3 months compared with CHT without further maintenance treatment). In patients with excellent or good PS (WHO grades 0-1) without persistent adverse effects after initial CHT and with non-squamous-cell carcinoma, the use of pemetrexed maintenance therapy prolongs the time to progression [70].

Molecularly targeted treatment

Numerous RCTs and their meta-analyses indicate that in patients diagnosed with adenocarcinoma and the presence of activating mutations in the *EGFR* gene, the use of one of the EGFR TKIs may produce a higher response rate and longer progression-free survival and is better tolerated compared to CHT [71]. The use of EGFR TKIs is the first choice in the treatment of patients with EGFR-activating mutations. First-generation EGFR inhibitors have analogous efficacy, and the differences concern only side effects (e.g. more frequent occurrence of diarrhoea after application of afatinib or abnormalities in liver function during treatment with gefitinib). Previous RCTs showed no significant differences between the anti-EGFR drugs and CHT in terms of overall survival, because the majority of patients who progressed during or after CHT received EGFR inhibitors in the next treatment line [72]. Only for afatinib - in the preplanned pooled analysis of LUX-Lung 3 and 6 studies [73] — a significant increase in overall survival compared to CHT was observed in patients with EGFR exon 19 deletions (median for afatinib and chemotherapy in LUX-Lung 3 and 6 trials — 33 vs. 21 months and 31 vs. 18 months). This benefit was not observed in patients with EGFR exon 21 substitution. Treatment with EGFR TKIs should be continued until disease progression or severe side effects occur.

A phase III clinical trial conducted in an Asian population showed a significant prolongation of progression-free survival and overall survival after dacomitinib (a second-generation EGFR TKI) compared to gefitinib (14.7 *vs.* 9.2 months and 34.1 *vs.* 26.8 months), with a higher toxicity of dacomitinib [74].

The phase III FLAURA study compared the efficacy of first-generation EGFR inhibitors (erlotinib or gefitinib) and osimertinib (a third-generation inhibitor, active in the presence of activating mutations in *EGFR* 19 or 21 exons and T790M resistance mutations in exon 20) in the first line of treatment. Progression-free survival and overall survival were significantly longer among patients treated with osimertinib (medians — 19 months *vs.* 10 months and 39 months *vs.* 32 months). Higher efficacy of osimertinib was found in patients with and without CNS involvement. Treatment with osimertinib was better tolerated (the incidence of serious adverse events was 42% and 47%) [75].

The use of the above-mentioned EGFR TKIs is reimbursed in Poland.

In phase III studies of patients diagnosed with adenocarcinoma and *ALK* gene rearrangement, significantly better survival rates were found after the use of *ALK* inhibitors compared to CHT. For crizotinib and ceritinib, the risk of death was reduced by 24% and 27%, respective [76, 77]. Phase III study comparing alectinib with crizotinib showed a median progression-free survival of 35 and 11 months, and reduced relative risk of disease progression or death by 57% in patients receiving alectinib with better treatment tolerance. The differences were found in the total entire and in patients with metastases in the CNS, which results from the better penetration of alectinib through the blood-brain barrier [78]. Brigatinib and lorlatinib also showed greater efficacy than crizotinib in phase III trials (significantly reduced the risk of disease progression or death by 51% and 72%; significant superiority of both drugs in patients with brain metastases) [79, 80]. In Poland, crizotinib, alectinib, ceritinib and brigatinib are reimbursed in the first line of treatment (loralatinib— in the second-line treatment).

The use of crizotinib is also justified (and reimbursed) in the first-line treatment of NSCLC patients with *ROS1* gene rearrangement (median overall survival in the PROFILE 1001 studies, 51 months) [81]. The pooled analysis of the results of phase II studies with entrectinib used in NSCLC patients with *ROS1* gene rearrangement confirmed the value of the drug (objective response rate 67%, 12-month progression-free survival and overall survival rates 55% and 81%) [82].

In selected patients with oligopression and with simultaneous response in other lesions during TKI treatment, their further use in combination with local treatment (excision or RT — especially stereotactic, provided it can be used) may be considered.

The value of drugs targeting other molecules (e.g. *RET*, *MET*, *BRAF*, *HER2*, *NTRK* and *KRAS* gene abnormalities) is currently being evaluated in clinical trials. Some of these drugs have been issued with a marketing authorization but are not currently reimbursed in Poland.

Phase III trial results show some benefits of bevacizumab — a monoclonal antibody directed against vascular endothelial growth factor — in combination with CHT. However, the study excluded patients with squamous-cell carcinoma, haemoptysis, and bleeding disorders or undergoing anticoagulant therapy, as well as metastases in the brain and pharmacologically uncontrolled hypertension. Irrespective of the careful selection of the study group, side effects in patients receiving bevacizumab were more frequent and more severe [83].

Attempts to combine cetuximab with CHT as part of the first-line treatment yielded conflicting results (no effect in one study and a slight increase in overall survival in another) [84].

Immunotherapy

The results of phase III studies proved the value of the following immune checkpoint inhibitors in first-line treatment:

- pembrolizumab (PD-1 inhibitor) used either in monotherapy or with CHT;
- atezolizumab (PD-L1 inhibitor) used either in monotherapy or in combination with CHT or with bevacizumab and CHT;
- nivolumab (PD-1 inhibitor) used in combination with ipilimumab [CTLA4 (cytotoxic T lymphocyte antigen 4) inhibitor] and CHT;
- cemiplimab (PD-1 inhibitor) used as monotherapy.

The phase III study KEYNOTE-024 showed a significant increase in disease progression-free and overall survival with pembrolizumab compared to CHT (platinum-based regimens) in patients with PD-L1 expression in at least 50% of tumour cells (progression-free and overall survival 10 vs. 6 months and 32 vs. 16 months). The benefits were consistent in patients diagnosed with squamous-cell carcinoma and non-squamous-cell carcinoma. The incidence of serious adverse events was significantly lower in patients receiving pembrolizumab [80]. Monotherapy with pembrolizumab in NSCLC patients (squamous-and non-squamous-cell carcinoma) with PD-L1 expression in at least 50% of cells is reimbursed in Poland.

For another PD-1 inhibitor, nivolumab, no significant benefit over first-line CHT has been demonstrated [86].

The results of the phase III EMPOWER-Lung1 study [87], which assumed the randomization of patients with PD-L1 expression greater than or equal to 50% to treatment with cemiplimab (PD-1 inhibitor) or standard platinum-based chemotherapy, showed a significant reduction in progression and death risk after immunotherapy compared to chemotherapy (by 46% and 43%, respectively). Cemiplimab monotherapy has recently received a favorable opinion in Europe for the first-line treatment in patients with locally advanced or generalized NSCLC with high PD-L1 expression and without *EGFR* mutations or *ALK* and *ROS1* rearrangements in tumor cells. The drug is not reimbursed in Poland so far.

Phase III studies with pembrolizumab used in combination with CHT (platinum-based regimens) KEYNOTE-189 (non-squamous carcinoma) [88] and KEYNOTE-407 (squamous-cell carcinoma) [89] showed a significant increase in overall survival in the case of squamous-cell carcinoma; however, the benefits were numerically clearly smaller (median 22 vs. 11 months [88] and 16 vs. 11 months [89]). The benefits of adding CHT to pembrolizumab were independent of PD-L1 expression level, but the greatest reduction in the risk of death was found in patients with high expression (50% or more cells). The use of pembrolizumab and CHT in first-line treatment is currently reimbursed in Poland for both histological types, in patients with PD-L1 expression below 50%.

Atezolizumab (PD-L1 inhibitor) was evaluated in an IMpower-150 study [90] in the first-line treatment of patients with non-squamous-cell carcinoma. In this study, the value of chemotherapy (carboplatin and pemetrexed) in combination with bevacizumab with or without atezolizumab was also analysed (in both arms, the maintenance treatment with bevacizumab or bevacizumab and atezolizumab was used). In the group of patients receiving atezolizumab, significantly higher 12-and 24-month overall survival rates (67% vs. 43%, and 61% vs. 34%) and increased overall survival (median 19 vs. 15 months) were found compared to CHT with bevacizumab. Serious adverse events were more frequent in patients treated with atezolizumab (59% vs. 50%). The reduction in the risk of death was related to PD-L1 expression. The phase III study IMpower-130 showed that atezolizumab in combination with CHT (carboplatin and nab-paclitaxel) in patients with non-squamous-cell carcinoma significantly increases the overall survival compared to CHT alone (median 20 and 15 months) [91]. However, a significant increase in overall survival was not achieved with the use of atezolizumab with CHT in patients with squamous-cell carcinoma (significant benefits only in patients with high PD-L1 expression) [92].

The phase III CheckMate 9LA study compared CHT (only 2 cycles with platinum derivative, nab-paclitaxel, or pemetrexed depending on histology) alone or in combination with nivolumab and ipilimumab. The median overall survival was significantly longer for immunotherapy with CHT (16 vs. 11 months), with acceptable treatment toxicity profile [93]. Immunochemotherapy was more effective regardless of the histological type, PD-L1 expression and other clinical features. Reducing the number of CHT cycles may be associated with better treatment tolerance [75].

The value of pembrolizumab monotherapy versus CHT alone was assessed in the phase III study KEY-NOTE-042 in patients with squamous-and non-squamous-cell carcinoma with PD-L1 expression levels of at least 1% in the total population and in the subgroups according to PD-L1 expression (1% or more, 20% or more, and 50% or more), showing significant differences in favour of immunotherapy (median overall survival 17 vs. 12 months, 18 vs. 13 months, and 20 vs. 12 months) [94]. Based on these results, pembrolizumab in monotherapy was registered by the US Food and Drug Administration.

A preplanned phase III study IMpower-110 also showed a significantly increased median overall survival in patients with NSCLC with a PD-1 expression level of at least 1% receiving atezolizumab monotherapy compared to CHT (20 and 13 months, respectively) [95].

The incidence of serious adverse events of immunotherapy alone is lower, in an indirect assessment, than that observed with the combination of checkpoint inhibitors and CHT. A rational solution would be the use of immunotherapy alone or in combination with CHT, depending on the patients' characteristics, taking into account the extent and location of neoplastic lesions, comorbidities, and organ capacity. Due to the European registration and reimbursement rules in Poland, the use of immunotherapy alone is possible only in patients with PD-L1 expression in more than 50% of tumour cells (in other situations, pembrolizumab with CHT).

Immunotherapy with the use of anti-PD-1 drugs (e.g. pembrolizumab and nivolumab) or anti-PD-L1

(e.g. atezolizumab) may cause side effects (e.g. rash, diarrhoea, liver dysfunction and hypopituitarism [or hypothyroidism] inflammatory bowel disease, alveolitis, disorders of the cardiovascular system). Side effects of immunotherapy usually appear after 2–6 weeks of treatment. Early diagnosis and appropriate management allow most patients to continue treatment [96, 97].

Second-line systemic treatment

Chemotherapy

In selected patients without *EGFR*, *ALK*, and *ROS1* gene disorders and with progression after prior palliative CHT producing an objective response of at least 3 months duration, the use of docetaxel or pemetrexed in the second-line treatment may be considered [98]. In RCTs with second-line treatment, neither the superiority of multidrug CHT over monotherapy [99] nor the efficacy of other cytotoxic drugs apart from docetaxel and pemetrexed has been demonstrated. Second-line treatment can only be used in patients with good PS and without persistent complications of previous CHT. Pemetrexed is slightly more effective than docetaxel in the second-line treatment of patients with non-squamous-cell carcinoma [98].

Molecularly targeted treatment

The use of targeted therapy in second-line treatment after previous CHT is justified only in patients who, despite the presence of molecular disorders, did not receive this treatment in the first line. In patients with *EGFR* gene mutation, in whom one of the EGFR TKIs (afatinib, erlotinib, or gefitinib) was used as a first-line treatment, and the disease progressed after remission, the T790 mutation in exon 20 of the *EGFR* gene should be tested (liquid biopsy or re-sampling of tissue material) [100]. Phase III clinical trial in patients with this mutation showed superiority of osimertinib compared to chemotherapy — median duration of progression-free survival was 10 and 4 months (reduction of relative risk by 70%) [101].

Based on the results of prospective studies, in patients with *ALK* gene rearrangement, it is justified to use crizotinib (only after previous CHT), alectinib, ceritinib, lorlatinib or brigatinib (after previous CHT or another ALK inhibitor) as second-line treatment. However, in patients with *ROS1* gene rearrangement after previous CHT, it is possible to use crizotinib (registered indication). Molecular disorders should be determined based on reliable tests (preferably within one medical referral). The duration of treatment should depend on its tolerance and outcomes.

The use of crizotinib in patients with progression after a previous CHT prolongs progression-free survival by 5 months and reduces the relative risk of progression or death by 51% compared to treatment with docetaxel or pemetrexed [102]. In a phase III trial, crizotinib was compared with brigatinib (a second-generation ALK TKI) in patients not previously receiving ALK-targeted treatment (27% of patients who had previously received CHT). In the group of patients previously receiving CHT, the relative risk of disease progression or death decreased by 65% in the brigatinib group [103]. In the case of failure of first-line treatment with crizotinib and CHT, ceritinib [104] and alectinib [105] showed high efficacy (prolongation of progression-free survival by 4 and 8 months).

The efficacy of dabrafenib (BRAF kinase inhibitor) and trametinib (MEK kinase inhibitor) was assessed in a phase II study of NSCLC patients with *BRAF* V600E mutation after failure of prior systemic treatment. The median progression-free survival and objective response rates were 9.7 months and 63.2%. Treatment with dabrafenib and trametinib in patients with the *BRAF* V600E mutation is currently not reimbursed in Poland [106].

The use of docetaxel in combination with nintedanib (an anti-angiogenic drug) in patients with advanced adenocarcinoma with progression after previous platinum-based multidrug CHT reduced the risk of death by 25% in comparison with docetaxel monotherapy [107]. The benefits associated with the use of nintedanib and docetaxel were related to patients with so-called early chemoresistance (disease progression on treatment and during the first 3 months from the end or 9 months from the start of CHT).

Immunotherapy

Phase III clinical trial results showed that anti-PD-1 drugs (nivolumab and pembrolizumab) and anti-PD-L1 (atezolizumab) used in second-line treatment for NSCLC patients (both squamous-and non-squamous-cell carcinoma) are more effective than docetaxel. In the case of squamous-cell carcinoma, the use of nivolumab compared to CHT was associated with a 41% reduction in the relative risk of death, regardless of PD-L1 expression [108]. In patients with non-squamous-cell carcinoma, the decrease of relative risk of death compared with docetaxel was 27% with nivolumab [109] and atezolizumab [110] and 33% with pembrolizumab (the difference in favour of pembrolizumab was highest in patients with PD-L1 expression on at least 50% of cancer cells — 47%) [111].

Radiotherapy

Patients with advanced NSCLC symptoms in the chest may be alleviated with palliative RT, which can be used in various regimens (e.g. 20 Gy in 5 fractions in 5 days, 30 Gy in 10 fractions in 12 days, or 16 Gy in 2 fractions of 8 Gy with one-week interval).

The indications for palliative RT are also symptomatic metastases in the CNS or bones. In selected cases of airway obstruction due to endobronchial tumour growth, good palliative results may be achieved with endobronchial brachytherapy, resection of the obliterating mass with the use of laser or insertion of endobronchial prosthesis (stent), which can also be used in the case of bronchial outside pressure.

Anti-osteolytic treatment

Bone metastases occur in 30–40% of patients with NSCLC. The results of the phase III trials showed that the use of zoledronic acid [112] or denosumab [113] in patients with advanced NSCLC with bone metastases may prevent or delay bone complications. Analysis of subgroups in a study using denosumab in various cancers showed an increase in survival in a subset of NSCLC patients in addition to the anti-osteolytic effect [113].

Pleurodesis

In patients with recurrent pleural effusion, a good palliative effect may be achieved with pleurodesis (especially with the use of talc).

Treatment of patients with a single metastasis

In the case of primary cancer diagnosed together with a single metastasis, treatment with a radical intention may be considered, but it is necessary to carry out a detailed assessment of the extent of the disease using PET-CT [114].

In patients with a single adrenal metastasis in whom complete excision of the primary lesion is possible, adrenalectomy may be considered, followed by pulmonary resection (in the case of localisation of lung cancer and adrenal metastasis on the left side, simultaneous excision of both lesions from the transdiaphragmal approach during thoracotomy could be performed). In patients who are not eligible for adrenalectomy, stereotactic radiotherapy for adrenal metastasis may be considered. Treatment of primary chest changes should be carried out according to previously presented principles [115].

A similar procedure (excision of metastasis with irradiation of the postoperative area and pulmonary resection in the second stage) may be considered in patients with a single brain metastasis. If CNS metastasis excision or radical treatment of a primary tumour in the chest is not feasible, RT of metastasis (if possible stereotactic irradiation) is indicated in the first step, followed by treatment of the primary lesion according to the previously presented principles [115].

The presence of a single cancer lesion in the opposite lung (so-called synchronous cancer) — depending on the location and other factors — is not a contraindication to radical treatment (primarily resection).

Recommendations

 In patients with disseminated non-small-cell lung cancer, the choice of treatment method depends on clinical and pathomorphological and molecular characteristics (I, A).

- Patients with disseminated non-small-cell lung cancer with *EGFR* mutations should receive one of the EGFR TKIs as part of the first-line treatment (I, A).
- Patients with non-small-cell lung cancer with *ALK* gene rearrangement should receive one of the ALK TKIs in the first-line treatment (I, A).
- Patients with non-small-cell lung cancer with *ROS1* gene rearrangement should receive the ROS1 tyrosine kinase inhibitor in the first-line treatment (II, A).
- Patients with disseminated non-small-cell lung cancer with PD-L1 expression in at least 50% of cells, and without EGFR gene mutation and ALK/ROS1 gene rearrangements should receive pembrolizumab in the first-line treatment (I, A).
- Patients with metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer with PD-L1 expression less than 50%, without EGFR mutation and ALK/ROS1 gene rearrangements, should receive pembrolizumab in combination with chemotherapy or chemotherapy alone in the first-line treatment (doublet regimens including cisplatin or — in justified situations — carboplatin, and monotherapy may be considered only in selected clinical situations) (I, A).
- Patients with metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer, the use of bevacizumab or cetuximab in combination with chemotherapy, is not justified (I, A).
- The second-line treatment of patients with disseminated non-small-cell lung cancer depends on clinical-pathomorphological characteristics, the effects of earlier systemic therapy, and molecular characteristics. In this group, the following therapy modalities should be considered: chemotherapy (docetaxel or pemetrexed), docetaxel in combination with nintedanib, first-or second-generation EGFR inhibitors in patients who have not received these drugs in first line, or osimertinib in patients previously treated with the first-or second-generation EGFR inhibitors, ALK inhibitors in the case of ALK gene rearrangement, immunotherapy (nivolumab or atezolizumab), palliative radiotherapy, or symptomatic treatment (I, A).
- In selected patients with non-small-cell lung cancer with a single metastasis, treatment with a radical intention may be considered (III, B).
- In the case of progression in a single area with simultaneous response in other tumour lesions during treatment with EGFR or ALK/ROS1 inhibitors, continuation of current systemic therapy in combination with local management (resection or radiotherapy) should be considered) (III, B).
- In patients with metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer with bone metastases, zoledronic acid is recommended (I, B).
- In patients with disseminated non-small-cell lung cancer and chest problems or signs and symptoms related to metastases, palliative radiotherapy should always be considered (I, A).

 In patients with non-small-cell lung cancer with recurrent pleural effusion, it is advisable to perform pleurodesis with talc (II, A).

Small-cell lung cancer — primary treatment

Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy is an essential method of treatment for patients with SCLC. The regimen of choice is a combination of cisplatin with etoposide (PE scheme) in various modifications (e.g. cisplatin 80 mg/m^2 — day 1 or 30 mg/m^2 — day 1, 2, and 3 and etoposide 100 mg/m² — day 1, 2, and 3, every 21 days) [116]. The limitation of the use of the PE regimen is the presence of renal dysfunction — in this situation cisplatin can be replaced with carboplatin (in a dose calculated according to Calvert's formula for AUC 6) [116]. The less effective and currently rarely used regimen is a combination of cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, and vincristine or etoposide (CAV or CAE scheme: cyclophosphamide 1000 mg/m² — day 1, doxorubicin 45 mg/m^2 — day 1, vincristine 2 mg — day 1), or etoposide 80 mg/m² — day 1–3, every 21 days) [117]. Anthracyclin-containing chemotherapy is contraindicated in patients with significant cardiovascular disorders and cannot be used simultaneously with chest X-rays [118, 119]. The value of CHT with cisplatin or carboplatin in combination with irinotecan in the first-line treatment of stage IV SCLC [120] has not been confirmed in the European population.

Standard treatment includes 4–6 cycles of CHT. Unjustified dose reduction and prolonged intervals between cycles should be avoided. There is no justification for the alternate use of different CHT regimens, maintenance therapy, or treatment intensification [119].

Chemoimmunotherapy

The phase III IMpower133 trial compared chemotherapy with carboplatin and etoposide with or without atezolizumab in patients with stage IV SCLC. Atezolizumab was used in combination with CHT as a maintenance therapy. The overall survival time was 2 months longer in the atezolizumab group (median - 12.3 and 10.3 months; statistical significance), and the incidence of serious adverse events was similar in both arms of the study. There was no correlation with the degree of PD-L1 expression [121]. A similar benefit in terms of overall survival in patients with stage IV SCLC was demonstrated in the phase III CASPIAN study - the addition of durvalumab to CHT (regimens with cisplatin or carboplatin and etoposide) resulted in a significant increase in overall survival (median 12.9 and 10.5 months). Treatment tolerance was similar in both groups of patients [122]. Phase III study with pembrolizumab in combination with CHT did not show significant benefit in terms of overall survival [123].

Atezolizumab in combination with CHT in patients with stage IV SCLC is reimbursed in Poland.

Radiochemotherapy

In patients with an LD (stages I–III according to TNM classification), determined on the basis of a properly performed initial diagnosis, it is advisable to use simultaneous CHT (the combination of cisplatin and etoposide is a regimen of choice) and chest irradiation. Simultaneous RCHT compared to the sequential use of both methods increases the chance of cure or long-term remission with prolonged survival but at the expense of severe acute radiation reactions [124]. If CHT and RT cannot be initiated simultaneously, it should be attempted to start RT no later than simultaneously with the second cycle of CHT [125]. The use of simultaneous RCHT should not reduce the due intensity of CHT [126].

Only patients in good condition and without other factors that increase the risk of serious complications are eligible for RCHT. Chemoradiotherapy is not used in patients with pulmonary lymphangiosis and/or pleural effusion or in situations when the lesion could not be encompassed by RT because of its significant dimensions.

The irradiated area includes the primary lesion and metastatic local lymph nodes, as well as the area of adjacent unchanged lymph nodes. Currently, RT is conventionally fractionated at a dose of 60–66 Gy -30-33 fractions or hyperfractionated (45 Gy in 2 fractions of 1.5 Gy per day for 3 weeks, minimum interval between fractions -6 hours) is recommended. It is also recommended that modern RT techniques (similar to NSCLC). The use of hyperfractionated RT as part of RCHT allows for slightly longer survival but at the cost of a greater risk of neutropenia [126].

The results of the phase III study show that the use of chest irradiation (30 Gy — 10 fractions) after an objective response to CHT is achieved in patients with stage IV SCLC increases the time to disease progression and the 2-year survival rate (13% vs. 3%) [127]. Benefits are observed primarily in patients with cancer dissemination limited to the chest organs. These observations justify the consideration of chest irradiation in patients with stage IV SCLC after achieving a response to CHT.

In patients with stage I–III and stage IV cancer who have responded to RCHT or CHT, elective cranial irradiation allows a reduction in the risk of brain metastases and an extension of the survival time [128, 129]. A Japanese phase III study showed a similar overall survival rate in patients with stage IV SCLC who, after responding to CHT, underwent elective brain RT or follow-up with MR imaging of the CNS [130].

Surgical treatment

Surgical treatment in small-cell lung cancer is used very rarely — it can only be considered in patients with

T1N0M0 and in some patients with T2N0M0 cancer (less than 5% of all SCLC patients). Surgical treatment should be preceded by a full assessment of tumour burden (including PET-CT or mediastinoscopy). If the diagnosis of SCLC is established intraoperatively and there is a possibility of radical resection, a lobectomy with radical lymphadenectomy should be performed (pneumonectomy is not recommended because extensive surgery makes subsequent CHT difficult to use). Surgical treatment should always be completed with full CHT (4–6 cycles), and in the presence of metastases in the lymph nodes, additional RT should be considered. In all cases, elective cranial irradiation was used [131, 132].

Surgical treatment (excision of persistent lesions after a partial response following CHT) is also used in selected patients with a mixed form (SCLC and NSCLC) [131].

Small-cell lung cancer — treatment of relapsing patients

The treatment of patients with recurrent SCLC after previous CHT or RCHT depends on the effectiveness of first-line therapy and PS.

In patients with relapse of SCLC at least 3 months after completion of CHT with objective response, an attempt can be made to re-use the original regimen. In patients who did not respond to first-line treatment or in whom remission lasted less than 3 months, the chance of achieving a response after second-line treatment (e.g. CAE or CAV regimen after prior use of the cisplatin and etoposide regimen) is low. In patients with good PS, topotecan monotherapy can be used (1.5 mg/m² intravenously—day 1–5, every 21 days) [133]. The number of second-line CHT cycles depends on treatment tolerance and objective benefits.

In patients with relapse limited to the chest, who were not previously irradiated, a palliative RT $(5 \times 20 \text{ Gy or } 1 \times 8 \text{ Gy})$ should be considered.

In the case of progression limited to the brain, the choice of treatment method (CHT or RT) depends on the patient's condition, previous treatment, and the intensity of neurological symptoms.

Recommendations

- In the majority of patients with small-cell lung cancer in stages I–III, concomitant chemoradiation should be used, or in the case of contraindications, chemotherapy, and radiotherapy should be administered consecutively (I, A).
- In patients with small-cell lung cancer, a chemotherapy regimen consisting of cisplatin and etoposide should be used (I, A).
- Surgical treatment of patients with small-cell lung cancer can only be considered in stages T1–2 N0 (III, A).
- In patients with small-cell lung cancer in stages I–III with response to chemoradiotherapy or chemothera-

py, elective central nervous system irradiation should be used (at a dose of 25 Gy in 10 factions; treatment should be started within 2–5 weeks after completion of radiochemotherapy or chemotherapy) (I, A).

- In patients with stage IV small-cell lung cancer, chemotherapy or chemoimmunotherapy with atezolizumab should be used (I, A), and if response is achieved, elective irradiation of the central nervous system (I, A) and — in selected patients — chest irradiation should be considered (I, B).
- Before irradiation of the central nervous system, magnetic resonance imaging of the brain is advisable (II, B).
- The management of relapsed small-cell lung cancer patients depends on the clinical characteristics and benefits obtained during the initial treatment (options — second-line chemotherapy, palliative radiotherapy, or symptomatic care) (II, A).

Overcoming smoking habits

Smoking during and after treatment of lung cancer significantly worsens outcomes, increases the overall risk of death and the risk of cancer-related death, as well as the risk of second cancers, intensifies toxicity, and significantly increases treatment costs [134]. Most patients continue their addiction after cancer diagnosis, despite the numerous beneficial effects of smoking cessation. Cancer is a 'learning moment' for everyone, and it is also the best opportunity to discuss the addiction with HCP and make a decision to quit smoking. Paying more attention to smoking cessation at diagnosis and active intervention can motivate patients to stop smoking.

Recommendations

- All lung cancer patients should undergo the assessment for smoking and be informed about the benefits of stopping smoking.
- Treatment of tobacco dependence should be an integral and routine part of multidisciplinary lung cancer care and family care.

Follow-up after treatment

The aim of observation in patients with lung cancer treated with radical intention is the early detection of relapse, complications of treatment, and independent primary cancer. The results of a prospective, randomised study showed no differences in terms of overall survival in patients who, after pulmonary resection in stages I–III, were monitored using CT scans performed at the 3-, 6-, and 12-month intervals [135]. There is no indication for an active search for asymptomatic metastases in other organs (abdominal cavity, brain, bones) [136]. The schedule of control tests in palliative patients should take into account individual clinical situation. An inter-

esting solution, potentially increasing the effectiveness of control tests compared to their traditional form, is to match the dates of appointments with the symptoms reported by patients electronically [137].

Recommendations

- In patients with lung cancer treated with radical intention in the first 24 months after radical treatment, it is recommended that chest computed tomography examination scans should be performed every 6 months and every 12 months during the following 3 years (I, B).
- In the remaining patients, the control test schedule should be individualised (III, C).

Carcinoid tumours

Epidemiological and pathological characteristics

Carcinoid tumours account for 1–2% of primary respiratory tract neoplasms and 5% of thymic neoplasms. Approximately 25% of all carcinoids occur in the lungs. Lung and thymic carcinoids can occur in the course of multiple endocrine neoplasia type 1 syndrome (MEN-1), diffuse pulmonary neuroendocrine cell hyperplasia, or in people with a family history of such malignancies [138].

Compared to lung cancers, carcinoid tumours are usually diagnosed in younger people and have no proven association with smoking. Carcinoids, apart from SCLC and large-cell carcinoma, belong to neoplasms with neuroendocrine differentiation. Carcinoid tumours indicate higher histological maturity than SCLC and large-cell carcinoma — a typical carcinoid is characterised by a high degree of differentiation, while an atypical carcinoid is moderately differentiated [10].

The natural course and prognosis of carcinoids depends on differentiation grade. Typical carcinoids (about 70% of cases) are characterised by slow endobronchial growth and sporadic metastases, and atypical carcinoids infiltrate locally and are prone to spread to the lymph nodes and other organs. In a small proportion of patients diagnosed with carcinoids, secretion of peptide hormones and neuroamines (e.g. serotonin, somatostatin, and adrenocorticotropic hormone) is observed together with secondary symptoms [138].

Diagnostics

The diagnostics of carcinoid tumours are identical to those used in lung cancer, but in patients with symptoms secondary to increased secretion of peptide hormones and neuroamines, the hormonal profile should be additionally determined, and a somatostatin receptor scintigraphy should be considered [138]. The stage of carcinoid tumours is determined using the TNM classification [30].

Treatment

Surgery is the primary method of lung carcinoids treatment. The extent of resection depends on the tumour size and location. In typical carcinoids, lobectomy is most often performed, and in selected cases (limited endobronchial lesions), sparing surgery or laser removal may be considered. The principles of surgical management in atypical carcinoids are identical to those used in NSCLC (sparing surgery is contraindicated). The value of systemic treatment and RT in initial or postoperative treatment has not been confirmed [138].

The value of CHT in lung carcinoids (especially typical) is limited. In the case of advanced, typical carcinoids with slow progression, symptomatic treatment is indicated, and in the case of symptoms of hypersecretion and the presence of somatostatin receptors, the use of somatostatin analogues. Chemotherapy (platinum- or temozolomide-based regimens) may be used in patients with atypical advanced carcinoid tumours, but they are less chemosensitive than SCLC. In selected situations, it is justified to use radioisotope therapy targeting somatostatin or everolimus receptors (these methods are not reimbursed in Poland) [138].

Follow-up after treatment

Depending on the treatment intention, the observation of patients includes a medical history and physical examination, and due to the high risk of local recurrence, a chest CT scan.

Recommendations

- The diagnosis of respiratory carcinoids should be based on tissue histological examination (IV, A).
- Complete resection is a treatment of choice in carcinoid patients (IV, A).
- The use of chemotherapy and other systemic treatments, as well as somatostatin analogues and isotope therapy, should be individualised (IV, A).

Malignant pleural mesothelioma

Epidemiological and pathological characteristics

Malignant pleural mesothelioma is the most common primary malignancy originating from submesothelial cells that line the pleura and pericardium. Due to significant diagnostic problems, especially in differentiation, until recently it was difficult to determine the actual incidence of this cancer. Currently the progress of pathomorphological diagnostics (especially the introduction of IHC methods) allows us to establish the diagnosis with greater credibility [139]. Diagnosis and treatment of patients with mesothelioma should be carried out in centres with extensive experience in this field. In recent years, pleural mesothelioma has been the cause of approximately 250 deaths in Poland per year [1]. The average age of onset was about 60 years.

Since the introduction of more precise diagnostic criteria, there has been an increase in morbidity (previously, a large proportion of pleural mesotheliomas were considered pleural metastases of adenocarcinoma with an undetermined primary lesion location). This tendency also results from the actual increase in incidence caused by the high exposure to asbestos until now (in the past, extensively used in the construction, textile, shipbuilding, and car industries). Direct contact with asbestos can be proven in approximately 70–80% of patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma. The greatest risk concerns people employed in asbestos mines and their families living near mineral deposits, as well as people directly exposed to asbestos during many years of work in the shipbuilding industry [140].

In the histological pattern, epithelial, and sarcoma components are present. The most common type is epithelioid (about 55%), in which the prognosis is slightly better than in the others. The biphasic type is diagnosed less frequently (about 30%), and the least common (about 15%) is the sarcomatoid type, which is characterised by a particularly aggressive course [139]. The 2021 WHO classification introduced the concept of mesothelioma *in situ* [10].

Diagnostics

Diagnostics include identification of pleural lesions and confirmation of their malignant character, differentiation with metastases of another cancer, and extent assessment. For this purpose, close cooperation among the pathologist, radiologist, and clinician is necessary. An appropriate volume of material samples should also be obtained for IHC studies (Fig. 7). In the majority of patients, mesothelioma is diagnosed at the local and regional stages (metastases in distant organs are relatively rare).

Medical history

Medical history includes information about exposure to asbestos and symptoms associated with the localisation of primary lesions and local spread along the pleural surface (chest wall pain, dyspnoea, signs of threatening cardiac tamponade).

Physical examination

Physical examination consists of a typical assessment of the respiratory system and chest condition.



Figure 7. Principles of diagnostic procedures in malignant pleural mesothelioma; CT — computed tomography

Imaging examinations

The result of a conventional chest X-ray can only be the basis for mesothelioma suspicion. An absolutely essential method of mesothelioma imaging (especially in the assessment of its extent and degree of chest wall, pericardium, and diaphragm infiltration) is CT scan. In a few patients who potentially qualify for surgery with radical intention, MR may be helpful. The PET-CT examination is not applicable, except in situations when treatment with radical intention is considered [141]. Performing earlier pleurodesis significantly hindered interpretation of the results of the PET-CT examination.

The most common radiographic symptoms include:

- pleural thickening;
- nodular mass on pleural surface;
- pleural effusion;
- infiltration of chest wall;
- pericardium infiltration;
- diaphragm infiltration.

Pathological evaluation

In pathological diagnosis, it is essential to distinguish malignant mesothelioma from benign mesothelial and other malignant tumours, as well as to determine its histological type (epithelioid, biphasic, or sarcomatoid type with desmoplastic subtype). Diagnosis is based on histological evaluation and IHC assays (assessment of specific proteins in mesothelioma cells - calretinin, vimentin, cytokeratin, mesothelin, thrombomodulin, osteopontin, and the BAP-1 protein of prognostic importance in epithelial mesothelioma), including clinical data [139, 140]. The material for histopathological examination is most often obtained with thoracoscopy; during the procedure, numerous excisions of suspicious pleural lesions should be undertaken. Pleural mesothelioma should not be diagnosed solely on the basis of cytological examination of pleural effusion or material obtained with fine-needle aspiration [139]. The so-called cytoblocks made of the collected fluid enable performing IHC tests and may be helpful, but they do not allow for the assessment of stromal infiltration [an important feature for the diagnosis of mesothelioma (especially — *in situ* character)] [10].

Staging

In the assessment of malignant pleural mesothelioma, the Union for International Cancer Control (UICC) classification from 2017 applies (Tab. 6, 7) [30].

Treatment

Patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma should be treated only in specialised centres with extensive experience in this field and the possibility of using all methods of diagnosis and treatment (surgery, RT, and CHT) [142].

Radical surgical treatment is possible only in the epithelioid histological type in stages I, II, and III (without the N2 feature) after careful qualification, including the assessment of PS, tumour extent, and the coexistence of other diseases (especially cardiovascular diseases). Before qualification for radical treatment, mediastinoscopy is necessary [141-144]. Radical resection can be achieved with extrapleural pneumonectomy (excision of the lung and pulmonary and parietal pleura) and removal of half of the diaphragm and pericardium with their reconstruction. An alternative procedure is pleurectomy and decortication (resection with lung sparing - removal of the pleura with or without partial excision of diaphragm and pericardium). In both cases, dissection of the mediastinal lymph nodes is most often performed. The choice of surgical treatment method is a subject of controversy - extrapleural pneumonectomy seems to be more justified in patients with a lower risk of relapse and with very good or good PS and in the absence of other diseases of clinical significance, but it is much more burdensome [143, 144]. In some patients undergoing radical resection, adjuvant CHT and RT are used, but the value of these methods has not yet been unequivocally verified.

Palliative treatment methods to prevent the accumulation of neoplastic effusion include pleurectomy or pleurodesis (preferably with talc). The results of a randomised study showed better local control of pleural effusion with the use of videothoracoscopic pleurectomy, but this procedure had no effect on overall survival [145].

In some patients (particularly those with epithelioid type) who are not eligible for resection, moderate prolongation of survival and periodic symptom alleviation can be achieved after the use of palliative CHT. Eligible for treatment are patients with good PS with objective response assessment feasibility.

Systemic treatment of mesothelioma includes the use of antimetabolites (pemetrexed, gemcitabine, and

raltitrexed) and cisplatin, doxorubicin and vinorelbine. The most effective is a regimen composed of cisplatin (75 mg/m²) and pemetrexed (500 mg/m²) — both drugs on the first day of the cycle that are repeated every 3 weeks [146]. Assessment of CHT effectiveness requires the use of modified RECIST criteria, which results from the plane character of mesothelioma lesions and the frequent coexistence of pleural effusion. Selected patients (good PS, lack of persistent effects of earlier treatment) may have a short-term benefit from the second-line CHT (e.g. vinorelbine, doxorubicin, gemcitabine) [142, 147].

The results of randomised trials indicate that the addition of antiangiogenic drugs — bevacizumab [148] or nintedanib [149] — increases the effectiveness of CHT with cisplatin and pemetrexed. Neither drug is reimbursed in Poland for the treatment of patients with pleural mesothelioma.

The benefits of adding immunotherapy with durvalumab to chemotherapy (cisplatin and pemetrexed) demonstrated in a phase II trial require confirmation [150]. The combination of nivolumab and ipilimumab is valuable; in the phase III CheckMate 743 studies, an increase in overall survival by 4 months (18 vs. 14 months) was found compared to chemotherapy (pemetrexed with platinum derivative) [151].

Radiotherapy for mesothelioma is used:

- as postoperative treatment in patients in stages I–III (postoperative RT), but in some patients in combination with CHT;
- as palliative treatment to reduce the symptoms associated with locally advanced tumours.

The development of RT techniques, in particular the introduction of intensity modulated radiation therapy, increased the precision and safety of treatment and enabled the use of higher doses. As a result, this led to a reduction in the risk of local tumour recurrence after surgery and a slight improvement in survival rates. The use of modern RT can be considered part of a combined treatment (postoperative RT and CHT) [152].

In patients who are not eligible for CHT, symptomatic management is warranted.

Follow-up after treatment

Depending on the treatment assumption, observation of patients includes medical history and physical examination and — due to the risk of local recurrence — chest CT scan.

- A standard imaging study for suspected malignant pleural mesothelioma is chest computed tomography (IV, A).
- The diagnosis of malignant pleural mesothelioma should be based on the result of histological examination of the material (numerous sections)

Features	Characteristics
Primary tu	mour
тх	Primary tumour cannot be assessed
т0	No evidence of primary tumour
T1	Tumour limited to the ipsilateral parietal pleura with or without mediastinal pleura and with or without diaphragmatic pleural involvement
Т2	Tumour involving each of the ipsilateral pleural surfaces (parietal, mediastinal, diaphragmatic, and visceral pleura) with at least one of the following: — involvement of the diaphragmatic muscle — extension of tumour from the visceral pleura into the underlying pulmonary parenchyma
ТЗ	Locally advanced but potentially resectable tumour; tumour involving all of the ipsilateral pleural surfaces (parietal, mediastinal, diaphragmatic, and visceral pleura) with at least one of the following: — involvement of the endothoracic fascia — extension into the mediastinal fat — solitary, completely resectable focus of tumour extending into the soft tissue of the chest wall — non-transmural involvement of the pericardium
T4	 Locally advanced, technically unresectable tumour; tumour involving all of the ipsilateral pleural surfaces (parietal, mediastinal, diaphragmatic, and visceral pleura) with at least one of the following: diffuse extension or multifocal masses of tumour in the chest wall, with, or without associated rib destruction infiltration of the rib direct diaphragmatic extension of the tumour to the peritoneum direct extension of the tumour to the contralateral pleura direct extension of the tumour to a mediastinal organ direct extension of the tumour into the spine tumour extending through to the internal surface of the pericardium with infiltration of full thickness of the pericardium, with cancer cells in a pericardial effusion or tumour involving the myocardium infiltration of brachial plexus
Lymph no	des
NX	Regional lymph node(s) cannot be assessed
N0	No regional lymph node metastases
N1	Metastases present in one or more ipsilateral intrapulmonary, hilar, or mediastinal lymph nodes
N2	Metastases in the contralateral lymph nodes, ipsilateral or contralateral supraclavicular, and/or area of oblique muscles lymph nodes

Table 6. Staging of malignant pleural mesothelioma	(UICC,	2016)	[30]
--	--------	-------	------

Metastases			
M0	No distant metastases		
M1	Distant metastases present		

Table 7. Stages of malignant pleural mesothelioma (UICC,2016) [30]

Stages	т	Ν	М
IA	T1	N0	M0
IB	T2, T3	N0	M0
II	T1, T2	N1	M0
IIIA	Т3	N1	M0
IIIB	T1, T2, T3	N2	M0
	T4	Any	M0
IV	Any	Any	M1

sampled during thoracoscopy and immunohistochemical assays of markers specific for mesothelioma (IV, A).

- If malignant mesothelioma is diagnosed, it is necessary to determine the histological type (IV, A).
- In patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma in stages I–III, after exclusion of the N2 feature, the possibility of complete resection should be considered. If this is not feasible, the surgical procedure should be aimed at controlling the accumulation of pleural effusion (pleurodesis, decortication or insertion of a tunneled pleural catheter) (II, B).
- In patients with advanced mesothelioma, chemotherapy should be considered (a regimen containing cisplatin and pemetrexed) (I, A).
- In selected patients with advanced mesothelioma, the use of second-line chemotherapy may be considered (II, B).
- In patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma, radiotherapy should be considered part of a combined

treatment involving surgery and chemotherapy. Radiotherapy can also be considered a palliative treatment (II, B).

Mediastinal malignant tumours

Epidemiological characteristics

Mediastinal tumours are rare (less than 1.5% of all cancers) [1]. In adults, thymoma and thymic carcinomas are the most common, and in children, neoplasms of neural origin dominate. In adults, mediastinal tumours are most often located in the anterior part, and in children, they are found in the posterior part.

Mediastinal lymphomas are discussed in detail in the part of the diagnostic-therapeutic guidelines dedicated to lymphomas.

Many lesions located in the mediastinum are benign, and among malignant tumours, more often are metastases from other locations. It is always necessary to carry out detailed diagnostics (histological evaluation and staging).

Primary thymic tumours

Primary thymic tumours originate from epithelial cells and are characterised by T lymphocyte proliferation of different intensity. Thymic tumours — in contrast to lymphomas and germ-cell tumours — are usually characterised by relatively slow development. Approximately half of patients have general symptoms (usually paraneoplastic syndromes) [153]. The most common is myasthenia gravis (about 30% of patients), less frequently aplastic anaemia, neuropathy, and disorders of the immune system. Thymomas with symptoms of myasthaenia are characterised by a better prognosis, which is probably related to an earlier diagnosis [153].

Thymic tumours show a tendency to infiltrate adjacent structures (lung, pleura), while metastases in distant organs are rare.

Diagnostics

The complexity of mediastinal tumours makes it necessary to cooperate with many specialists (specialists in radiodiagnostics, pathologists, pneumonologists, thoracic surgeons, oncologists, and — in the case of myasthenia gravis — a neurologist).

Also to medical history and physical examination (including assessment for paraneoplastic symptoms), a CT scan should be performed (radiographs of anterior mediastinum usually show a circular or oval opacity with clear borders). Chest MR examination is useful in the imaging diagnostics of thymic neoplasms and in the differentiation between solid tumours and cysts [154]. In addition, serum markers (AFP — alpha-fetoprotein and beta-HCG — the beta subunit of human chorionic gonadotropin) should be assessed to differentiate from embryonal tumours. Due to the low incidence of metastases in distant organs, PET-CT imaging is of limited usefulness.

Pathological diagnosis

The need to perform a biopsy depends on the results of imaging tests and clinical status (e.g. characteristic changes in CT scan qualifying for radical excision in patients with myasthaenia do not require a preliminary biopsy; in other cases, the material should be sampled) [155].

The current WHO classification includes thymic epithelial cell morphology and the number of T lymphocytes, and distinguishes 6 types of thymomas with different prognoses [156]:

- A thymoma with no nuclear atypia, and accompanied by a few lymphocytes;
- AB type A thymoma admixed with foci rich in non-neoplastic lymphocytes;
- B1 thymoma with features of functional thymus with large numbers of cells that have an appearance almost indistinguishable from normal thymic cortex;
- B2 thymoma with scattered plump cells with vesicular nuclei and distinct nucleoli among a heavy population of lymphocytes;
- B3 thymoma predominantly composed of epithelial cells that have a round or polygonal shape and exhibit no or mild atypia;
- C thymic carcinoma.

The prognosis for patients with type A, AB, and B1 thymomas is significantly better compared to the other types, with radical excision being the decisive factor in all types.

Staging

Thymic tumour staging is assessed according to the TNM classification [30, 157], which replaced the Masaoka staging system [158] (Tab. 8–10).

Treatment

Treatment of patients with thymic tumours should be carried out in specialised centres with documented experience and all therapeutic options available. The primary method of treatment in stages I and II is a complete resection, which in selected patients can be followed with RT and/or CHT [159]. In patients with myasthenia before surgery, neurological status should be assessed (the risk of myasthenic crisis).

Surgical treatment consists of complete macroscopic and microscopic excision of the thymus and adipose tissue of the anterior mediastinum via sternotomy approach and cervical incision (less invasive methods — e.g. videothoracoscopy — are less effective). After complete resection of the thymomas in stage I, patients do not require additional RT or CHT. Postoperative RT should be considered in thymomas in stage IIB

Table 8. The Masaoka-Koga Stage Classification for Thymic Malignancies [158]

Table 10. Stages of thymic tumourstumours (UICC, 2016) [30]

		Stages	Т	N	M
Stages	Characteristics	I	T1	N0	M0
I	No capsular invasion	II	T2	N0	M0
IIA	Microscopic capsular and fatty tissue invasion	IIIA	T3	N0	M0
IIB	Macroscopic capsular invasion	IIIB	T4	N0	M0
III	Macroscopic invasion of neighbouring organs	IVA	Any	N1	M0
IVA	Pleural or pericardial dissemination		Any	NU, N I	IVITA
IVB	Distant metastases outside chest	IVB	Any Any	N2 Any	M0, M1a M1b

Table 9. TNM classification of thymic tumourstumours (UICC, 2016) [30]

Features	Characteristics
Primary tum	our
T1	Encapsulated tumour or extending into the anterior mediastinal fat; possible infiltration of mediastinal pleura
T1a	Tumour with no infiltration of mediastinal pleura
T1b	Tumour with infiltration of mediastinal pleura
T2	Invasion to the pericardium (both parietal and full pericardial thickness)
ТЗ	Tumour infiltrating at least one of the following structures: lung, brachiocephalic vein, superior vena cava, diaphragmatic nerve, chest wall, extrapericardial pulmonary veins, or pulmonary artery
T4	A tumour infiltrating at least one of the following structures: aorta, aortic arch vessels, intrapericardial pulmonary veins, or pulmonary artery
Lymph node	S
NX	Metastases in lymph nodes cannot be assessed
N0	No metastases in lymph nodes
N1	Metastases in anterior (perithymic) lymph nodes
N2	Metastases in deep intrathoracic or cervical lymph nodes
Metastases	
M0	No distant, pleural, or pericardial metastases
M1	Distant or pleural or pericardial metastases
M1a	Pleural or pericardial metastases
M1b	Distant metastases (including lungs)

and histological types B2 or B3 (other patients in stage II do not require RT). Postoperative RT is routine management in thymomas in advanced stages III and IVA, and in the case of non-radical resection. The total dose of RT is 45-50 Gy after complete excision and 50-54 Gy after incomplete excision, with dose escalation (boost) up to 60-66 Gy in the area with the probable presence of persistent cancer. The irradiated area should include a thymic lodge with an appropriate margin. In thymic carcinoma, adjuvant RT (50-54 Gy with a boost up to 60-66 Gy in the area at risk of recurrence) is used in stages II-IVA [159, 160]. It is recommended that modern RT techniques be used (like those in lung cancer).

In patients with locally advanced stages (stages III and IVA), combined treatment is recommended, including initial CHT, resection (possible in 50-70% of patients), and postoperative RT [159]. In patients who do not qualify for a complete resection, RCHT is used [161].

Thymomas are relatively chemosensitive (70–100%) of objective responses) - CHT is used in combination with local treatment or alone [162]. The following regimens are most often used:

- CAP cisplatin 50 mg/m2 intravenously day 1, doxorubicin 50 mg/m2 intravenously — day 1, cyclophosphamide 500 mg/m2 intravenously — day 1, cycles every 21 days;
- ADOC cisplatin 50 mg/m2 intravenously day 1, doxorubicin 40 mg/m2 intravenously - day 1, vincristine 0.6 mg/m2 intravenously — day 3, cyclophosphamide 700 mg/m2 intravenously - day 4, cycles every 21 days;

- PE cisplatin 60 mg/m2 intravenously day 1, etoposide 120 mg/m2 per day intravenously — day 1, 2, and 3, cycles every 21 days;
- KP carboplatin AUC 6 day 1, paclitaxel 200 mg/m2 intravenously day 1, cycles every 21 days.

Follow-up after treatment

In patients undergoing radical treatment (resection with or without adjuvant therapy) for stage I or II thymic tumours, the first CT scan should be performed after 3 months, followed by every 12 months for the first 5 years and then every 2 years. For patients treated for stage III or IVA thymomas and for thymic cancer, CT scans should be repeated every 6 months for 2 years and then every 12 months. Observation is recommended for at least 10 years [159].

Mediastinal germ-cell tumours

Mediastinal germ-cell tumours occur mainly in men (90% cases), and they are divided into seminomas and non-seminomas (in women, dysgerminoma and other than dysgerminoma). Most often they are located in the anterior mediastinum (this is the most common — apart from the gonads — localisation of germ-cell tumours). Symptoms of germinal tumours of the mediastinum occur earlier than in thymomas. Prognosis of patients with germ-cell mediastinal tumours is worse than in the same tumours located in the gonads. The treatment of choice is CHT (regimens with cisplatin) and resection of persistent lesions; in some patients diagnosed with seminoma, RT is also used [163, 164].

Mediastinal neurogenic tumours

Neoplasms of nervous system origin occur primarily in the posterior mediastinum and most often come from the peripheral nerves and ganglia of the vegetative system (malignant nature in 20–30% of cases). Management is based on surgical treatment (RT and CHT are of limited use).

The primary treatment method for mediastinal mesenchymal tumours is surgical resection [164].

Recommendations

- The standard imaging test for suspected mediastinal neoplasm is a chest computed tomography examination scan (IV, A).
- The basis for diagnosis in mediastinal tumours is a histological examination of material taken through core needle biopsy supplemented with immunohistochemical tests (IV, A).
- The management of thymic tumours depends on the possibility of complete resection (IV, A).

- The indications for postoperative radiotherapy in thymic tumours are clinical stage IIB and histopathological types B2 and B3, as well as stages III and IVA and non-radical resection (IV, A).
- The indication for postoperative radiotherapy in thymic cancer is stage II or higher (IV, A).
- In locally advanced thymic tumours, preoperative chemotherapy or chemotherapy in combination with radiotherapy should be considered (IV, A).
- Chemotherapy is used for disseminated thymic tumours and mediastinal germ-cell tumours (IV, A).
- The management of mediastinal germ-cell tumours consists of the use of chemotherapy and resection of persistent lesions (radiotherapy in some cases should also be considered) (IV, A).

References

- Wojciechowska U, Didkowska J, Michałek I i wsp. Nowotwory złośliwe w Polsce w 2018 roku. Narodowy Instytut Onkologii im. Marii Skłodowskiej-Curie – Państwowy Instytut Badawczy, Warszawa 2020. http:// onkologia.org.pl/publikacje.
- 2. https://ec.europa.eu/hea;th/tobacco/overview_en.
- Aberle DR, Adams AM, Berg CD, et al. National Lung Screening Trial Research Team. Reduced lung-cancer mortality with low-dose computed tomographic screening. N Engl J Med. 2011; 365(5): 395–409, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1102873, indexed in Pubmed: 21714641.
- Pedersen JH, Rzyman W, Veronesi G, et al. Recommendations from the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS) regarding computed tomography screening for lung cancer in Europe. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2017; 51(3): 411–420, doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezw418, indexed in Pubmed: 28137752.
- Oudkerk M, Devaraj A, Vliegenthart R, et al. European position statement on lung cancer screening. Lancet Oncol. 2017; 18(12): e754–e766, doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(17)30861-6, indexed in Pubmed: 29208441.
- Rzyman W, Didkowska J, Dziedzic R, et al. Consensus statement on a screening programme for the detection of early lung cancer in Poland. Adv Respir Med. 2018; 86(1): 53–74, doi: 10.5603/ARM.2018.0009, indexed in Pubmed: 29490422.
- Jonas DE, Reuland DS, Reddy SM, et al. Screening for Lung Cancer With Low-Dose Computed Tomography: Updated Evidence Report and Systematic Review for the US Preventive Services Task Force. JAMA. 2021; 325(10): 971–987, doi: 10.1001/jama.2021.0377, indexed in Pubmed: 33687468.
- Koning Hde, Aalst Cv, Jong Pde, et al. Reduced Lung-Cancer Mortality with Volume CT Screening in a Randomized Trial. N Engl J Med. 2020; 382(6): 503–513, doi: 10.1056/nejmoa1911793.
- Jackman D, Johnson B. Small-cell lung cancer. Lancet. 2005; 366(9494): 1385–1396, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(05)67569-1.
- WHO Classification of Tumours Editorial Board. Thoracic Tumours, 5th Edition, Volume 5. 2021.
- Moreira A, Ocampo P, Xia Y, et al. A Grading System for Invasive Pulmonary Adenocarcinoma: A Proposal From the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer Pathology Committee. J Thorac Oncol. 2020; 15(10): 1599–1610, doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.06.001.
- Lindeman NI, Cagle PT, Aisner DL, et al. Updated Molecular Testing Guideline for the Selection of Lung Cancer Patients for Treatment With Targeted Tyrosine Kinase Inhibitors: Guideline From the College of American Pathologists, the International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer, and the Association for Molecular Pathology. J Thorac Oncol. 2018; 13(3): 323–358, doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2017.12.001, indexed in Pubmed: 29396253.
- Kelemkerian GP, Narula N, Kennedy EB, et al. Molecular testing guideline for the selection of patients with ling cancer for treatment with targeted tyrosine kinase inhibitors: American Society of Clinical Oncology Endorsement of the College of American Pathologists/International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer/Association for Molecular Pathology Clinical Practice Guideline Update. J Clin Oncol. 2018; 36: 911–919.

- Ettinger DS, Wood DE, Aisner D i wsp. NCCN Guidelines insights: non-small-cell lung cancer, version 2.2021. https://www.nccn.org/professionals/physician.gls/pdf.
- Gould MK, Donington J, Lynch WR, et al. Evaluation of individuals with pulmonary nodules: when is it lung cancer? Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest. 2013; 143(5 Suppl): e93S-e93e120S, doi: 10.1378/chest.12-2351, indexed in Pubmed: 23649456.
- Callister ME, Baldwin DR, Akram AR, et al. members of the Guideline Development Group, Guideline Development Group, British Thoracic Society Pulmonary Nodule Guideline Development Group, British Thoracic Society Standards of Care Committee. British Thoracic Society guidelines for the investigation and management of pulmonary nodules. Thorax. 2015; 70 Suppl 2(8): ii1–ii54, doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2015-207168, indexed in Pubmed: 26082159.
- MacMahon H, Naidich DP, Goo JMo, et al. Guidelines for Management of Incidental Pulmonary Nodules Detected on CT Images: From the Fleischner Society 2017. Radiology. 2017; 284(1): 228–243, doi: 10.1148/radiol.2017161659, indexed in Pubmed: 28240562.
- Swensen SJ, Silverstein MD, Ilstrup DM, et al. The probability of malignancy in solitary pulmonary nodules. Application to small radiologically indeterminate nodules. Arch Intern Med. 1997; 157(8): 849–855, indexed in Pubmed: 9129544.
- Swensen SJ, Silverstein MD, Edell ES, et al. Solitary pulmonary nodules: clinical prediction model versus physicians. Mayo Clin Proc. 1999; 74(4): 319–329, doi: 10.4065/74.4.319, indexed in Pubmed: 10221459.
- McWilliams A, Tammemagi MC, Mayo JR, et al. Probability of cancer in pulmonary nodules detected on first screening CT. N Engl J Med. 2013; 369(10): 910–919, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1214726, indexed in Pubmed: 24004118.
- Herder GJ, van Tinteren H, Golding RP, et al. Clinical prediction model to characterize pulmonary nodules: validation and added value of 18F-fluorodeoxyglucose positron emission tomography. Chest. 2005; 128(4): 2490–2496, doi: 10.1378/chest.128.4.2490, indexed in Pubmed: 16236914.
- De Leyn P, Dooms C, Kuzdzal J, et al. Revised ESTS guidelines for preoperative mediastinal lymph node staging for non-small-cell lung cancer. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2014; 45(5): 787–798, doi: 10.1093/ejcts/ezu028, indexed in Pubmed: 24578407.
- Rivera M, Mehta A, Wahidi M. Establishing the Diagnosis of Lung Cancer. Chest. 2013; 143(5): 142–165, doi: 10.1378/chest.12-2353.
- Du Rand IA, Blaikley J, Booton R, et al. British Thoracic Society guideline for diagnostic flexible bronchoscopy in adults: accredited by NICE. Thorax. 2013; 68(Suppl 1): i1–i44, doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2013-203618.
- Szlubowski A, Herth FJF, Soja J, et al. Endobronchial ultrasound-guided needle aspiration in non-small-cell lung cancer restaging verified by the transcervical bilateral extended mediastinal lymphadenectomy--a prospective study. Eur J Cardiothorac Surg. 2010; 37(5): 1180–1184, doi: 10.1016/j.ejcts.2009.11.014, indexed in Pubmed: 20022759.
- Korevaar DA, Crombag LM, Cohen JF, et al. Added value of combined endobronchial and oesophageal endosonography for mediastinal nodal staging in lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet Respir Med. 2016; 4(12): 960–968, doi: 10.1016/S2213-2600(16)30317-4, indexed in Pubmed: 27773666.
- 27. Vilmann P, Clementsen PF, Colella S, et al. Combined endobronchial and esophageal endosonography for the diagnosis and staging of lung cancer: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Guideline, in cooperation with the European Respiratory Society (ERS) and the European Society of Thoracic Surgeons (ESTS). Endoscopy. 2015; 47(6): 545–559, doi: 10.1055/s-0034-1392040, indexed in Pubmed: 26030890.
- Khan KA, Nardelli P, Jaeger A, et al. Navigational Bronchoscopy for Early Lung Cancer: A Road to Therapy. Adv Ther. 2016; 33(4): 580–596, doi: 10.1007/s12325-016-0319-4, indexed in Pubmed: 27084723.
- Labarca G, Folch E, Jantz M, et al. Adequacy of Samples Obtained by Endobronchial Ultrasound with Transbronchial Needle Aspiration for Molecular Analysis in Patients with Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. Ann Am Thorac Soc. 2018; 15(10): 1205–1216, doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201801-045OC, indexed in Pubmed: 30011388.
- Brierley JD, Gospodarowicz MK, Wittekind C. (red.). TNM Classification of malignant tumours (wyd 8). John Wiley and Sons Inc, Oksford 2016.
- 31. Goldstraw P, Chansky K, Crowley J, et al. International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer Staging and Prognostic Factors Committee, Advisory Boards, and Participating Institutions, International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer Staging and Prognostic Factors Committee Advisory Boards and Participating Institutions. The IASLC Lung Cancer Staging Project: Proposals for Revision of the TNM Stage

Groupings in the Forthcoming (Eighth) Edition of the TNM Classification for Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2016; 11(1): 39–51, doi: 10.1016/j. jtho.2015.09.009, indexed in Pubmed: 26762738.

- 32. Brunelli A, Charloux A, Bolliger CT, et al. European Respiratory Society and European Society of Thoracic Surgeons joint task force on fitness for radical therapy. ERS/ESTS clinical guidelines on fitness for radical therapy in lung cancer patients (surgery and chemo-radiotherapy). Eur Respir J. 2009; 34(1): 17–41, doi: 10.1183/09031936.00184308, indexed in Pubmed: 19567600.
- Boujibar F, Gillibert A, Gravier FE, et al. Performance at stair-climbing test is associated with postoperative complications after lung resection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Thorax. 2020; 75(9): 791–797, doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2019-214019, indexed in Pubmed: 32651199.
- Fleisher L, Beckman J, Brown K, et al. ACC/AHA 2007 Guidelines on Perioperative Cardiovascular Evaluation and Care for Noncardiac Surgery. Circulation. 2007; 116(17): e418–e499, doi: 10.1161/circulationaha.107.185699.
- Brunelli A, Kim AW, Berger KI, et al. Physiologic evaluation of the patient with lung cancer being considered for resectional surgery: Diagnosis and management of lung cancer, 3rd ed: American College of Chest Physicians evidence-based clinical practice guidelines. Chest. 2013; 143(5 Suppl): e166S–e190S, doi: 10.1378/chest.12-2395, indexed in Pubmed: 23649437.
- Lim E, Baldwin D, Beckles M, et al. British Thoracic Society, Society for Cardiothoracic Surgery in Great Britain and Ireland. Guidelines on the radical management of patients with lung cancer. Thorax. 2010; 65 Suppl 3: iii1–ii27, doi: 10.1136/thx.2010.145938, indexed in Pubmed: 20940263.
- McElnay PJ, Choong A, Jordan E, et al. Outcome of surgery versus radiotherapy after induction treatment in patients with N2 disease: systematic review and meta-analysis of randomised trials. Thorax. 2015; 70(8): 764–768, doi: 10.1136/thoraxjnl-2014-206292, indexed in Pubmed: 25967753.
- Rosen JE, Keshava HB, Yao X, et al. The Natural History of Operable Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer in the National Cancer Database. Ann Thorac Surg. 2016; 101(5): 1850–1855, doi: 10.1016/j.athoracsur.2016.01.077, indexed in Pubmed: 27041452.
- Rami-Porta R, Wittekind C, Goldstraw P, et al. International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer (IASLC) Staging Committee. Complete resection in lung cancer surgery: proposed definition. Lung Cancer. 2005; 49(1): 25–33, doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2005.01.001, indexed in Pubmed: 15949587.
- 40. Yan TD, Black D, Bannon PG, et al. Systematic review and metaanalysis of randomized and nonrandomized trials on safety and efficacy of video-assisted thoracic surgery lobectomy for early-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009; 27(15): 2553–2562, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.18.2733, indexed in Pubmed: 19289625.
- Petrella F, Spaggiari L. The smaller the better: a new concept in thoracic surgery? Lancet Oncol. 2016; 17(6): 699–700, doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(16)30049-3, indexed in Pubmed: 27160476.
- Postmus PE, Kerr KM, Senan D, et al. Early-stage and locally-advanced (non-metastatic) non-small-cell lung cancer: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines. Ann Oncol. 2017; 28(supl 4): iv1–iv21.
- Louie AV, Palma DA, Dahele M, et al. Management of early-stage non-small cell lung cancer using stereotactic ablative radiotherapy: controversies, insights, and changing horizons. Radiother Oncol. 2015; 114(2): 138–147, doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2014.11.036, indexed in Pubmed: 25497873.
- Postoperative radiotherapy in non-small-cell lung cancer: systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data from nine randomised controlled trials. PORT Meta-analysis Trialists Group. Lancet. 1998; 352(9124): 257–263, indexed in Pubmed: 9690404.
- Le Péchoux C. Role of postoperative radiotherapy in resected nonsmall cell lung cancer: a reassessment based on new data. Oncologist. 2011; 16(5): 672–681, doi: 10.1634/theoncologist.2010-0150, indexed in Pubmed: 21378080.
- Billiet C, Decaluwé H, Peeters S, et al. Modern post-operative radiotherapy for stage III non-small cell lung cancer may improve local control and survival: a meta-analysis. Radiother Oncol. 2014; 110(1): 3–8, doi: 10.1016/j.radonc.2013.08.011, indexed in Pubmed: 24100149.
- 47. Le Pe, Pourel N, Barlesi F, et al. LBA3 PR. An international randomized trial, comparing post-operative conformal radiotherapy (PORT) to no PORT, in patients with completely resected non-small-cell lung cancer and mediastinal N2 involvement: primary end-point analysis of LungART. Ann Oncol. 2020; 31(supl 4): LBA3.
- Pignon JP, Tribodet H, Scagliotti GV, et al. LACE Collaborative Group. Lung adjuvant cisplatin evaluation: a pooled analysis by the LACE Collaborative Group. J Clin Oncol. 2008; 26(21): 3552–3559, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.13.9030, indexed in Pubmed: 18506026.

- Wu YL, Tsuboi M, He J, et al. ADAURA Investigators. Osimertinib in Resected -Mutated Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2020; 383(18): 1711–1723, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa2027071, indexed in Pubmed: 32955177.
- Cavalheri V, Burtin C, Formico VR, et al. Exercise training undertaken by people within 12 months of lung resection for non-small cell lung cancer. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2019; 6: CD009955, doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD009955.pub3, indexed in Pubmed: 31204439.
- Henshall CL, Allin L, Aveyard H. A Systematic Review and Narrative Synthesis to Explore the Effectiveness of Exercise-Based Interventions in Improving Fatigue, Dyspnea, and Depression in Lung Cancer Survivors. Cancer Nurs. 2019; 42(4): 295–306, doi: 10.1097/NCC.0000000000000605, indexed in Pubmed: 29787385.
- 52. Lim E, Harris G, Patel A, et al. Preoperative versus postoperative chemotherapy in patients with resectable non-small cell lung cancer: systematic review and indirect comparison meta-analysis of randomized trials. J Thorac Oncol. 2009; 4(11): 1380–1388, doi: 10.1097/JTO .0b013e3181b9ecca, indexed in Pubmed: 19861907.
- Baas P, Belderbos JSA, van den Heuvel M. Chemoradiation therapy in nonsmall cell lung cancer. Curr Opin Oncol. 2011; 23(2): 140–149, doi: 10.1097/CCO.0b013e328341eed6, indexed in Pubmed: 21178617.
- Li X, Li S, Yan S, et al. Impact of preoperative exercise therapy on surgical outcomes in lung cancer patients with or without COPD: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Cancer Manag Res. 2019; 11: 1765–1777, doi: 10.2147/CMAR.S186432, indexed in Pubmed: 30858729.
- Ni HJ, Pudasaini B, Yuan XT, et al. Exercise Training for Patients Pre- and Postsurgically Treated for Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: A Systematic Review and Meta-analysis. Integr Cancer Ther. 2017; 16(1): 63–73, doi: 10.1177/1534735416645180, indexed in Pubmed: 27151583.
- Piraux E, Caty G, Reychler G. Effects of preoperative combined aerobic and resistance exercise training in cancer patients undergoing tumour resection surgery: A systematic review of randomised trials. Surg Oncol. 2018; 27(3): 584–594, doi: 10.1016/j.suronc.2018.07.007, indexed in Pubmed: 30217322.
- Eberhardt WEE, De Ruysscher D, Weder W, et al. Panel Members. 2nd ESMO Consensus Conference in Lung Cancer: locally advanced stage III non-small-cell lung cancer. Ann Oncol. 2015; 26(8): 1573–1588, doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdv187, indexed in Pubmed: 25897013.
 Aupérin A, Le Péchoux C, Rolland E, et al. Meta-analysis of concomi-
- Aupérin A, Le Péchoux C, Rolland E, et al. Meta-analysis of concomitant versus sequential radiochemotherapy in locally advanced non--small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2010; 28(13): 2181–2190, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.26.2543, indexed in Pubmed: 20351327.
- Miller ED, Fisher JL, Haglund KE, et al. The Addition of Chemotherapy to Radiation Therapy Improves Survival in Elderly Patients with Stage III Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2018; 13(3): 426–435, doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2017.11.135, indexed in Pubmed: 29326090.
- Antonia SJ, Villegas A, Daniel D, et al. PACIFIC Investigators. Overall Survival with Durvalumab after Chemoradiotherapy in Stage III NSCLC. N Engl J Med. 2018; 379(24): 2342–2350, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1809697, indexed in Pubmed: 30280658.
- Moeller B, Balagamwala EH, Chen A, et al. Palliative thoracic radiation therapy for non-small cell lung cancer: 2018 Update of an American Society for Radiation Oncology (ASTRO) Evidence-Based Guideline. Pract Radiat Oncol. 2018; 8(4): 245–250, doi: 10.1016/j.prro.2018.02.009, indexed in Pubmed: 29625898.
- Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer Collaborative Group. Chemotherapy in non-small cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis using updated data on individual patients from 52 randomised clinical trials. BMJ. 1995; 311(7010): 899–909, doi: 10.1136/bmj.311.7010.899, indexed in Pubmed: 7580546.
- NSCLC Meta-Analyses Collaborative Group. Chemotherapy in addition to supportive care improves survival in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data from 16 randomized controlled trials. J Clin Oncol. 2008; 26(28): 4617–4625, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.17.7162, indexed in Pubmed: 18678835.
- Ardizzoni A, Boni L, Tiseo M, et al. CISCA (CISplatin versus CArboplatin) Meta-analysis Group. Cisplatin- versus carboplatin-based chemotherapy in first-line treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: an individual patient data meta-analysis. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2007; 99(11): 847–857, doi: 10.1093/jnci/djk196, indexed in Pubmed: 17551145.
- Pujol JL, Barlesi F, Daurès JP. Should chemotherapy combinations for advanced non-small cell lung cancer be platinum-based? A meta-analysis of phase III randomized trials. Lung Cancer. 2006; 51(3): 335–345, doi: 10.1016/j.lungcan.2005.11.001, indexed in Pubmed: 16478643.

- Scagliotti GV, Parikh P, von Pawel J, et al. Phase III study comparing cisplatin plus gemcitabine with cisplatin plus pemetrexed in chemotherapy-naive patients with advanced-stage non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2008; 26(21): 3543–3551, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2007.15.0375, indexed in Pubmed: 18506025.
- Quoix E, Zalcman G, Oster JP, et al. Carboplatin and weekly paclitaxel doublet chemotherapy compared with monotherapy in elderly patients with advanced non-small-cell lung cancer: IFCT-0501 randomised, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2011; 378(9796): 1079–1088, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(11)60780-0, indexed in Pubmed: 21831418.
- Delbaldo C, Michiels S, Syz N, et al. Benefits of adding a drug to a single-agent or a 2-agent chemotherapy regimen in advanced non--small-cell lung cancer: a meta-analysis. JAMA. 2004; 292(4): 470–484, doi: 10.1001/jama.292.4.470, indexed in Pubmed: 15280345.
- Rossi A, Chiodini P, Sun JM, et al. Six versus fewer planned cycles of first-line platinum-based chemotherapy for non-small-cell lung cancer: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data. Lancet Oncol. 2014; 15(11): 1254–1262, doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(14)70402-4, indexed in Pubmed: 25232001.
- Paz-Ares L, Marinis Fde, Dediu M, et al. Maintenance therapy with pemetrexed plus best supportive care versus placebo plus best supportive care after induction therapy with pemetrexed plus cisplatin for advanced non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer (PARAMOUNT): a double-blind, phase 3, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2012; 13(3): 247–255, doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(12)70063-3, indexed in Pubmed: 22341744.
- Haaland B, Tan PS, de Castro G, et al. Meta-analysis of first-line therapies in advanced non-small-cell lung cancer harboring EGFRactivating mutations. J Thorac Oncol. 2014; 9(6): 805–811, doi: 10.1097/JTO.00000000000156, indexed in Pubmed: 24787964.
- 72. Haspinger ER, Agustoni F, Torri V, et al. Is there evidence for different effects among EGFR-TKIs? Systematic review and meta-analysis of EGFR tyrosine kinase inhibitors (TKIs) versus chemotherapy as firstline treatment for patients harboring EGFR mutations. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol. 2015; 94(2): 213–227, doi: 10.1016/j.critrevonc.2014.11.005, indexed in Pubmed: 25523487.
- Yang JH, Wu YL, Schuler M, et al. Afatinib versus cisplatin-based chemotherapy for EGFR mutation-positive lung adenocarcinoma (LUX-Lung 3 and LUX-Lung 6): analysis of overall survival data from two randomised, phase 3 trials. Lancet Oncol. 2015; 16(2): 141–151, doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(14)71173-8, indexed in Pubmed: 25589191.
- Mok TS, Cheng Y, Zhou X, et al. Improvement in Overall Survival in a Randomized Study That Compared Dacomitinib With Gefitinib in Patients With Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer and EGFR--Activating Mutations. J Clin Oncol. 2018; 36(22): 2244–2250, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2018.78.7994, indexed in Pubmed: 29864379.
- Soria JC, Ohe Y, Vansteenkiste J, et al. FLAURA Investigators. Osimertinib in Untreated EGFR-Mutated Advanced Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018; 378(2): 113–125, doi: 10.1056/NEJ-Moa1713137, indexed in Pubmed: 29151359.
- Solomon BJ, Mok T, Kim DW, et al. PROFILE 1014 Investigators. Firstline crizotinib versus chemotherapy in ALK-positive lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2014; 371(23): 2167–2177, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1408440, indexed in Pubmed: 25470694.
- Soria JC, Tan DSW, Chiari R, et al. First-line ceritinib versus platinumbased chemotherapy in advanced ALK-rearranged non-small-cell lung cancer (ASCEND-4): a randomised, open-label, phase 3 study. Lancet. 2017; 389(10072): 917–929, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)30123-X, indexed in Pubmed: 28126333.
- Peters S, Camidge DR, Shaw AT, et al. ALEX Trial Investigators. Alectinib versus Crizotinib in Untreated ALK-Positive Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2017; 377(9): 829–838, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1704795, indexed in Pubmed: 28586279.
- Camidge DR, Kim HR, Ahn MJ, et al. Brigatinib versus Crizotinib in ALK- -Positive Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018; 379(21): 2027– 2039, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1810171, indexed in Pubmed: 30280657.
- Shaw A, Bauer T, Marinis Fde, et al. First-Line Lorlatinib or Crizotinib in Advanced ALK-Positive Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2020; 383(21): 2018–2029, doi: 10.1056/nejmoa2027187.
- Shaw AT, Riely GJ, Bang YJ, et al. Crizotinib in ROS1-rearranged advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (NSCLC): updated results, including overall survival, from PROFILE 1001. Ann Oncol. 2019; 30(7): 1121– 1126, doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdz131, indexed in Pubmed: 30980071.
- Dziadziuszko R, Krebs MG, De Braud F, et al. Updated Integrated Analysis of the Efficacy and Safety of Entrectinib in Locally Advanced or Metastatic Fusion-Positive Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2021; 39(11): 1253–1263, doi: 10.1200/JCO.20.03025, indexed in Pubmed: 33646820.

- Ramalingam SS, Belani CP. Antiangiogenic agents in the treatment of nonsmall cell lung cancer: reality and hope. Curr Opin Oncol. 2010; 22(2): 79–85, doi: 10.1097/CCO.0b013e328335a583, indexed in Pubmed: 20009926.
- Rossi A. Cetuximab and non-small-cell lung cancer: end of the story? Lancet Oncol. 2013; 14(13): 1251–1253, doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(13)70498-4, indexed in Pubmed: 24231626.
- Reck M, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Robinson AG, et al. KEYNOTE-024 Investigators. Pembrolizumab versus Chemotherapy for PD-L1-Positive Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2016; 375(19): 1823–1833, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1606774, indexed in Pubmed: 27718847.
- Carbone DP, Reck M, Paz-Ares L, et al. CheckMate 026 Investigators. First-Line Nivolumab in Stage IV or Recurrent Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2017; 376(25): 2415–2426, doi: 10.1056/NEJ-Moa1613493, indexed in Pubmed: 28636851.
- Sezer A, Kilickap S, Gümüş M, et al. Cemiplimab monotherapy for first-line treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer with PD-L1 of at least 50%: a multicentre, open-label, global, phase 3, randomised, controlled trial. Lancet. 2021; 397(10274): 592–604, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(21)00228-2.
- Gandhi L, Rodríguez-Abreu D, Gadgeel S, et al. KEYNOTE-189 Investigators. Pembrolizumab plus Chemotherapy in Metastatic Non--Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018; 378(22): 2078–2092, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1801005, indexed in Pubmed: 29658856.
- Paz-Ares L, Luft A, Vicente D, et al. Pembrolizumab plus Chemotherapy for Squamous Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018; 379(21): 2040–2051, doi: 10.1056/nejmoa1810865.
- Socinski MA, Jotte RM, Cappuzzo F, et al. IMpower150 Study Group. Atezolizumab for First-Line Treatment of Metastatic Nonsquamous NSCLC. N Engl J Med. 2018; 378(24): 2288–2301, doi: 10.1056/NEJ-Moa1716948, indexed in Pubmed: 29863955.
- West H, McCleod M, Hussein M, et al. Atezolizumab in combination with carboplatin plus nab-paclitaxel chemotherapy compared with chemotherapy alone as first-line treatment for metastatic non-squamous non-small-cell lung cancer (IMpower130): a multicentre, randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2019; 20(7): 924–937, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(19)30167-6, indexed in Pubmed: 31122901.
- Jotte R, Cappuzzo F, Vynnychenko I, et al. Atezolizumab in Combination With Carboplatin and Nab-Paclitaxel in Advanced Squamous NSCLC (IMpower131): Results From a Randomized Phase III Trial. J Thorac Oncol. 2020; 15(8): 1351–1360, doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2020.03.028, indexed in Pubmed: 32302702.
- Paz-Ares L, Ciuleanu TE, Cobo M, et al. First-line nivolumab plus ipilimumab combined with two cycles of chemotherapy in patients with non-small-cell lung cancer (CheckMate 9LA): an international, randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2021; 22(2): 198–211, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30641-0, indexed in Pubmed: 33476593.
- Mok TSK, Wu YL, Kudaba I, et al. KEYNOTE-042 Investigators. Pembrolizumab versus chemotherapy for previously untreated, PD-L1expressing, locally advanced or metastatic non-small-cell lung cancer (KEYNOTE-042): a randomised, open-label, controlled, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2019; 393(10183): 1819–1830, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32409-7, indexed in Pubmed: 30955977.
- Herbst RS, Giaccone G, de Marinis F, et al. Atezolizumab for First-Line Treatment of PD-L1-Selected Patients with NSCLC. N Engl J Med. 2020; 383(14): 1328–1339, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1917346, indexed in Pubmed: 32997907.
- Haanen JB, Carbonnel F, Robert C, et al. ESMO Guidelines Committee. Management of toxicities from immunotherapy: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2017; 28(suppl_4): iv119–iv142, doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdx225, indexed in Pubmed: 28881921.
- Wang DY, Salem JE, Cohen JV, et al. Fatal Toxic Effects Associated With Immune Checkpoint Inhibitors: A Systematic Review and Metaanalysis. JAMA Oncol. 2018; 4(12): 1721–1728, doi: 10.1001/jamaoncol.2018.3923, indexed in Pubmed: 30242316.
- Hanna N, Shepherd F, Fossella F, et al. Randomized Phase III Trial of Pemetrexed Versus Docetaxel in Patients With Non–Small-Cell Lung Cancer Previously Treated With Chemotherapy. J Clin Oncol. 2004; 22(9): 1589–1597, doi: 10.1200/jco.2004.08.163.
- Di Maio M, Chiodini P, Georgoulias V, et al. Meta-analysis of singleagent chemotherapy compared with combination chemotherapy as second-line treatment of advanced non-small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2009; 27(11): 1836–1843, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.17.5844, indexed in Pubmed: 19273711.
- 100. Tan DSW, Yom SS, Tsao MS, et al. The International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer Consensus Statement on Optimizing Management of EGFR Mutation-Positive Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer: Status in 2016. J Thorac Oncol. 2016; 11(7): 946–963, doi: 10.1016/j. jtho.2016.05.008, indexed in Pubmed: 27229180.

- 101. Mok TS, Wu YL, Ahn MJ, et al. AURA3 Investigators. Osimertinib or Platinum-Pemetrexed in EGFR T790M-Positive Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2017; 376(7): 629–640, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1612674, indexed in Pubmed: 27959700.
- 102. Shaw AT, Kim DW, Nakagawa K, et al. Crizotinib versus chemotherapy in advanced ALK-positive lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2013; 368(25): 2385–2394, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1214886, indexed in Pubmed: 23724913.
- 103. Camidge DR, Kim HR, Ahn MJ, et al. Brigatinib versus Crizotinib in ALK-Positive Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018; 379(21): 2027–2039, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1810171, indexed in Pubmed: 30280657.
- 104. Shaw A, Kim T, Crinò L, et al. Ceritinib versus chemotherapy in patients with ALK-rearranged non-small-cell lung cancer previously given chemotherapy and crizotinib (ASCEND-5): a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. The Lancet Oncology. 2017; 18(7): 874–886, doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(17)30339-x.
- 105. Novello S, Mazières J, Oh IJ, et al. Alectinib versus chemotherapy in crizotinib-pretreated anaplastic lymphoma kinase (ALK)-positive non-small-cell lung cancer: results from the phase III ALUR study. Ann Oncol. 2018; 29(6): 1409–1416, doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdy121, indexed in Pubmed: 29668860.
- 106. Planchard D, Smit EF, Groen HJM, et al. Dabrafenib plus trametinib in patients with previously treated BRAF(V600E)-mutant metastatic non--small cell lung cancer: an open-label, multicentre phase 2 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2016; 17(7): 984–993, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)30146-2, indexed in Pubmed: 27283860.
- 107. Reck M, Kaiser R, Mellemgaard A, et al. Docetaxel plus nintedanib versus docetaxel plus placebo in patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (LUME-Lung 1): a phase 3, double-blind, randomised controlled trial. Lancet Oncol. 2014; 15(2): 143–155, doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(13)70586-2, indexed in Pubmed: 24411639.
- Brahmer J, Reckamp KL, Baas P, et al. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in Advanced Squamous-Cell Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015; 373(2): 123–135, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1504627, indexed in Pubmed: 26028407.
- Borghaei H, Paz-Ares L, Horn L, et al. Nivolumab versus Docetaxel in Advanced Nonsquamous Non-Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2015; 373(17): 1627–1639, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1507643, indexed in Pubmed: 26412456.
- 110. Rittmeyer A, Barlesi F, Waterkamp D, et al. Atezolizumab versus docetaxel in patients with previously treated non-small-cell lung cancer (OAK): a phase 3, open-label, multicentre randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2017; 389(10066): 255–265, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(16)32517-x, indexed in Pubmed: 27979383.
- 111. Herbst RS, Baas P, Kim DW, et al. Pembrolizumab versus docetaxel for previously treated, PD-L1-positive, advanced non-small-cell lung cancer (KEYNOTE-010): a randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2016; 387(10027): 1540–1550, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)01281-7, indexed in Pubmed: 26712084.
- 112. Rosen LS, Gordon D, Tchekmedyian NS, et al. Long-term efficacy and safety of zoledronic acid in the treatment of skeletal metastases in patients with nonsmall cell lung carcinoma and other solid tumors: a randomized, Phase III, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial. Cancer. 2004; 100(12): 2613–2621, doi: 10.1002/cncr.20308, indexed in Pubmed: 15197804.
- 113. Scagliotti GV, Hirsh V, Siena S, et al. Overall survival improvement in patients with lung cancer and bone metastases treated with denosumab versus zoledronic acid: subgroup analysis from a randomized phase 3 study. J Thorac Oncol. 2012; 7(12): 1823–1829, doi: 10.1097/JTO .0b013e31826aec2b, indexed in Pubmed: 23154554.
- 114. Guckenberger M, Lievens Y, Bouma A, et al. Characterisation and classification of oligometastatic disease: a European Society for Radiotherapy and Oncology and European Organisation for Research and Treatment of Cancer consensus recommendation. Lancet Oncol. 2020; 21(1): e18–e28, doi: 10.1016/s1470-2045(19)30718-1.
- 115. Kim C, Hoang CD, Kesarwala AH, et al. Role of Local Ablative Therapy in Patients with Oligometastatic and Oligoprogressive Non-Small Cell Lung Cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2017; 12(2): 179–193, doi: 10.1016/j. jtho.2016.10.012, indexed in Pubmed: 27780780.
- 116. Rossi A, Maio MDi, Chiodini P, et al. Carboplatin- or Cisplatin-Based Chemotherapy in First-Line Treatment of Small-Cell Lung Cancer: The COCIS Meta-Analysis of Individual Patient Data. J Clin Oncol. 2012; 30(14): 1692–1698, doi: 10.1200/jco.2011.40.4905.
- 117. Sundstrøm S, Bremnes RM, Kaasa S, et al. Norwegian Lung Cancer Study Group. Cisplatin and etoposide regimen is superior to cyclophosphamide, epirubicin, and vincristine regimen in small-cell lung cancer: results from a randomized phase III trial with 5 years' follow-up. J Clin Oncol. 2002; 20(24): 4665–4672, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2002.12.111, indexed in Pubmed: 12488411.

- 118. Pujol JL, Carestia L, Daurès JP. Is there a case for cisplatin in the treatment of small-cell lung cancer? A meta-analysis of randomized trials of a cisplatin-containing regimen versus a regimen without this alkylating agent. Br J Cancer. 2000; 83(1): 8–15, doi: 10.1054/bjoc.2000.1164, indexed in Pubmed: 10883661.
- Popat S, O'Brien M. Chemotherapy strategies in the treatment of small cell lung cancer. Anticancer Drugs. 2005; 16(4): 361–372, doi: 10.1097/00001813-200504000-00002, indexed in Pubmed: 15746572.
- 120. Shao N, Jin S, Zhu W. An updated meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials comparing irinotecan/platinum with etoposide/platinum in patients with previously untreated extensive-stage small cell lung cancer. J Thorac Oncol. 2012; 7(2): 470–472, doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e-31823c5a23, indexed in Pubmed: 22252565.
- 121. Mansfield AS, Każarnowicz A, Karaseva N, et al. IMpower133 Study Group. First-Line Atezolizumab plus Chemotherapy in Extensive-Stage Small-Cell Lung Cancer. N Engl J Med. 2018; 379(23): 2220–2229, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1809064, indexed in Pubmed: 30280641.
- 122. Goldman JW, Dvorkin M, Chen Y, et al. CASPIAN investigators. Durvalumab, with or without tremelimumab, plus platinum-etoposide versus platinum-etoposide alone in first-line treatment of extensive-stage small-cell lung cancer (CASPIAN): updated results from a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2021; 22(1): 51–65, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30539-8, indexed in Pubmed: 33285097.
- 123. Rudin CM, Awad MM, Navarro A, et al. KEYNOTE-604 Investigators. Pembrolizumab or Placebo Plus Etoposide and Platinum as First-Line Therapy for Extensive-Stage Small-Cell Lung Cancer: Randomized, Double-Blind, Phase III KEYNOTE-604 Study. J Clin Oncol. 2020; 38(21): 2369–2379, doi: 10.1200/JCO.20.00793, indexed in Pubmed: 32468956.
- 124. Fried DB, Morris DE, Poole C, et al. Systematic review evaluating the timing of thoracic radiation therapy in combined modality therapy for limited-stage small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2004; 22(23): 4837– 4845, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2004.01.178, indexed in Pubmed: 15570087.
- 125. De Ruysscher D, Pijls-Johannesma M, Bentzen SM, et al. Time between the first day of chemotherapy and the last day of chest radiation is the most important predictor of survival in limited-disease small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006; 24(7): 1057–1063, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2005.02.9793, indexed in Pubmed: 16505424.
- 126. Faivre-Finn C, Snee M, Ashcroft L, et al. CONVERT Study Team. Concurrent once-daily versus twice-daily chemoradiotherapy in patients with limited-stage small-cell lung cancer (CONVERT): an open-label, phase 3, randomised, superiority trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017; 18(8): 1116–1125, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30318-2, indexed in Pubmed: 28642008.
- 127. Slotman B, Tinteren Hv, Praag J, et al. Use of thoracic radiotherapy for extensive stage small-cell lung cancer: a phase 3 randomised controlled trial. Lancet. 2015; 385(9962): 36–42, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(14)61085-0.
- Slotman B, Faivre-Finn C, Kramer G, et al. EORTC Radiation Oncology Group and Lung Cancer Group. Prophylactic cranial irradiation in extensive small-cell lung cancer. N Engl J Med. 2007; 357(7): 664–672, doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa071780, indexed in Pubmed: 17699816.
- 129. Slotman BJ, Mauer ME, Bottomley A, et al. Prophylactic cranial irradiation in extensive disease small-cell lung cancer: short-term health-related quality of life and patient reported symptoms: results of an international Phase III randomized controlled trial by the EORTC Radiation Oncology and Lung Cancer Groups. J Clin Oncol. 2009; 27(1): 78–84, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2008.17.0746, indexed in Pubmed: 19047288.
- 130. Takahashi T, Yamanaka T, Seto T, et al. Prophylactic cranial irradiation versus observation in patients with extensive-disease small-cell lung cancer: a multicentre, randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet Oncol. 2017; 18(5): 663–671, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(17)30230-9, indexed in Pubmed: 28343976.
- Schneider BJ, Saxena A, Downey RJ. Surgery for early-stage small cell lung cancer. J Natl Compr Canc Netw. 2011; 9(10): 1132–1139, doi: 10.6004/jnccn.2011.0094, indexed in Pubmed: 21975913.
- 132. Low M, Ben-Or S. Thoracic Surgery in Early-Stage Small Cell Lung Cancer. Thorac Surg Clin. 2018; 28(1): 9–14, doi: 10.1016/j.thorsurg.2017.08.003, indexed in Pubmed: 29150041.
- 133. O'Brien MER, Ciuleanu TE, Tsekov H, et al. Phase III trial comparing supportive care alone with supportive care with oral topotecan in patients with relapsed small-cell lung cancer. J Clin Oncol. 2006; 24(34): 5441– 5447, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2006.06.5821, indexed in Pubmed: 17135646.
- 134. Jassem J. Tobacco smoking after diagnosis of cancer: clinical aspects. Transl Lung Cancer Res. 2019; 8(Suppl 1): S50–S58, doi: 10.21037/tlcr.2019.04.01, indexed in Pubmed: 31211105.
- 135. McMurry TL, Stukenborg GJ, Kessler LG, et al. More Frequent Surveillance Following Lung Cancer Resection Is Not Associated With Improved Survival: A Nationally Representative Cohort Study. Ann Surg. 2018; 268(4): 632–639, doi: 10.1097/SLA.000000000002955, indexed in Pubmed: 30004919.

- 136. Colt H, Murgu S, Korst R, et al. Follow-up and Surveillance of the Patient With Lung Cancer After Curative-Intent Therapy. Chest. 2013; 143(5): e437S–e454S, doi: 10.1378/chest.12-2365.
- 137. Denis F, Lethrosne C, Pourel N, et al. Randomized Trial Comparing a Web-Mediated Follow-up With Routine Surveillance in Lung Cancer Patients. J Natl Cancer Inst. 2017; 109(9), doi: 10.1093/jnci/djx029, indexed in Pubmed: 28423407.
- 138. Baudin E, Caplin M, Garcia-Carbonero R, et al. ESMO Guidelines Committee. Electronic address: clinicalguidelines@esmo.org. Lung and thymic carcinoids: ESMO Clinical Practice Guidelines for diagnosis, treatment and follow-up. Ann Oncol. 2021; 32(4): 439–451, doi: 10.1016/j.annonc.2021.01.003, indexed in Pubmed: 33482246.
- 139. Nicholson AG, Sauter JL, Nowak AK, et al. EURACAN/IASLC Proposals for Updating the Histologic Classification of Pleural Mesothelioma: Towards a More Multidisciplinary Approach. J Thorac Oncol. 2020; 15(1): 29–49, doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2019.08.2506, indexed in Pubmed: 31546041.
- 140. Robinson B, Musk A, Lake R. Malignant mesothelioma. Lancet. 2005; 366(9483): 397–408, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(05)67025-0, indexed in Pubmed: 16054941.
- 141. Sinha S, Swift AJ, Kamil MA, et al. The role of imaging in malignant pleural mesothelioma: an update after the 2018 BTS guidelines. Clin Radiol. 2020; 75(6): 423–432, doi: 10.1016/j.crad.2019.12.001, indexed in Pubmed: 32081346.
- 142. Kindler HL, Ismaila N, Armato SG, et al. Treatment of Malignant Pleural Mesothelioma: American Society of Clinical Oncology Clinical Practice Guideline. J Clin Oncol. 2018; 36(13): 1343–1373, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.76.6394, indexed in Pubmed: 29346042.
- 143. Rice D, Rusch V, Pass H, et al. International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer International Staging Committee and the International Mesothelioma Interest Group. Recommendations for uniform definitions of surgical techniques for malignant pleural mesothelioma: a consensus report of the international association for the study of lung cancer international staging committee and the international mesothelioma interest group. J Thorac Oncol. 2011; 6(8): 1304–1312, doi: 10.1097/JTO.0b013e3182208e3f, indexed in Pubmed: 21847060.
- 144. Flores RM, Pass HI, Seshan VE, et al. Extrapleural pneumonectomy versus pleurectomy/decortication in the surgical management of malignant pleural mesothelioma: results in 663 patients. J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg. 2008; 135(3): 620–6, 626.e1, doi: 10.1016/j. jtcvs.2007.10.054, indexed in Pubmed: 18329481.
- 145. Rintoul R, Ritchie A, Edwards J, et al. Efficacy and cost of video-assisted thoracoscopic partial pleurectomy versus talc pleurodesis in patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma (MesoVATS): an open-label, randomised, controlled trial. Lancet. 2014; 384(9948): 1118–1127, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(14)60418-9, indexed in Pubmed: 24942631.
- 146. Vogelzang NJ, Rusthoven JJ, Symanowski J, et al. Phase III study of pemetrexed in combination with cisplatin versus cisplatin alone in patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma. J Clin Oncol. 2003; 21(14): 2636–2644, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2003.11.136, indexed in Pubmed: 12860938.
- 147. Muers MF, Stephens RJ, Fisher P, et al. MS01 Trial Management Group. Active symptom control with or without chemotherapy in the treatment of patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma (MS01): a multicentre randomised trial. Lancet. 2008; 371(9625): 1685–1694, doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(08)60727-8, indexed in Pubmed: 18486741.
- 148. Zalcman G, Mazieres J, Margery J, et al. Bevacizumab for newly diagnosed pleural mesothelioma in the Mesothelioma Avastin Cisplatin Pemetrexed Study (MAPS): a randomised, controlled, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2016; 387(10026): 1405–1414, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(15)01238-6, indexed in Pubmed: 26719230.
- 149. Grosso F, Steele N, Novello S, et al. Nintedanib Plus Pemetrexed/Cisplatin in Patients With Malignant Pleural Mesothelioma: Phase II Results From the Randomized, Placebo-Controlled LUME-Meso Trial. J Clin Oncol. 2017; 35(31): 3591–3600, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2017.72.9012, indexed in Pubmed: 28892431.
- 150. Nowak AK, Lesterhuis WJ, Kok PS, et al. Durvalumab with first-line chemotherapy in previously untreated malignant pleural mesothelioma (DREAM): a multicentre, single-arm, phase 2 trial with a safety run-in. Lancet Oncol. 2020; 21(9): 1213–1223, doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(20)30462-9, indexed in Pubmed: 32888453.
- 151. Baas P, Scherpereel A, Nowak A, et al. First-line nivolumab plus ipilimumab in unresectable malignant pleural mesothelioma (CheckMate 743): a multicentre, randomised, open-label, phase 3 trial. Lancet. 2021; 397(10272): 375–386, doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(20)32714-8.
- 152. Cao C, Tian D, Manganas C, et al. Systematic review of trimodality therapy for patients with malignant pleural mesothelioma. Ann

Cardiothorac Surg. 2012; 1(4): 428–437, doi: 10.3978/j.issn.2225--319X.2012.11.07, indexed in Pubmed: 23977533.

- 153. Evoli A, Lancaster E. Paraneoplastic disorders in thymoma patients. J Thorac Oncol. 2014; 9(9 Suppl 2): S143–S147, doi: 10.1097/JTO.000000000000300, indexed in Pubmed: 25396312.
- 154. Li HR, Gao J, Jin C, et al. Comparison between CT and MRI in the Diagnostic Accuracy of Thymic Masses. J Cancer. 2019; 10(14): 3208–3213, doi: 10.7150/jca.30240, indexed in Pubmed: 31289591.
- 155. Weis CA, Yao X, Deng Y, et al. Contributors to the ITMIG Retrospective Database. The impact of thymoma histotype on prognosis in a worldwide database. J Thorac Oncol. 2015; 10(2): 367–372, doi: 10.1097/JTO.0000000000393, indexed in Pubmed: 25616178.
- 156. Marx A, Ströbel P, Badve SS, et al. ITMIG consensus statement on the use of the WHO histological classification of thymoma and thymic carcinoma: refined definitions, histological criteria, and reporting. J Thorac Oncol. 2014; 9(5): 596–611, doi: 10.1097/JTO.000000000000154, indexed in Pubmed: 24722150.
- 157. Ruffini E, Fang W, Guerrera F, et al. Staging and Prognostic Factors Committee, Staging and Prognostic Factors-Thymic Domain Subcommittee, Staging and Prognostic Factors Subcommittees, Members of the Advisory Boards. The International Association for the Study of Lung Cancer Thymic Tumors Staging Project: The Impact of the Eighth Edition of the Union for International Cancer Control and American Joint Committee on Cancer TNM Stage Classification of Thymic Tumors. J Thorac Oncol. 2020; 15(3): 436–447, doi: 10.1016/j.jtho.2019.11.013, indexed in Pubmed: 31783179.

- 158. Masaoka A, Monden Y, Nakahara K, et al. Follow-up study of thymomas with special reference to their clinical stages. Cancer. 1981; 48(11): 2485–2492, doi: 10.1002/1097-0142(19811201)48:11<2485::aid--cncr2820481123>3.0.co;2-r, indexed in Pubmed: 7296496.
- 159. Falkson CB, Bezjak A, Darling G, et al. Lung Cancer Disease Site Group of Cancer Care Ontario's Program in Evidence-Based Care. The management of thymoma: a systematic review and practice guideline. J Thorac Oncol. 2009; 4(7): 911–919, doi: 10.1097/jto.0b013e-3181a4b8e0, indexed in Pubmed: 19557895.
- 160. Patel S, Macdonald OK, Nagda S, et al. Evaluation of the role of radiation therapy in the management of malignant thymoma. Int J Radiat Oncol Biol Phys. 2012; 82(5): 1797–1801, doi: 10.1016/j. ijrobp.2011.03.010, indexed in Pubmed: 21596484.
- 161. Kashima J, Okuma Y, Murata H, et al. Chemoradiotherapy for unresectable cases of thymic epithelial tumors: a retrospective study. J Thorac Dis. 2017; 9(10): 3911–3918, doi: 10.21037/jtd.2017.08.133, indexed in Pubmed: 29268401.
- 162. Girard N. Chemotherapy and targeted agents for thymic malignancies. Expert Rev Anticancer Ther. 2012; 12(5): 685–695, doi: 10.1586/era.12.29, indexed in Pubmed: 22594902.
- 163. Bokemeyer C, Nichols CR, Droz JP, et al. Extragonadal germ cell tumors of the mediastinum and retroperitoneum: results from an international analysis. J Clin Oncol. 2002; 20(7): 1864–1873, doi: 10.1200/JCO.2002.07.062, indexed in Pubmed: 11919246.
- 164. den Bakker MA, Marx A, Mukai K, et al. Mesenchymal tumours of the mediastinum--part I. Virchows Arch. 2015; 467(5): 487–500, doi: 10.1007/s00428-015-1830-8, indexed in Pubmed: 26358059.